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Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

Letter of Transmittal

In The Name of Allah, The Beneficent, The Merciful
The Chairman,
ISFD Board of Governors
Dear Mr. Chairman,

Assalam-u-Alaikum Warahmatullahi Wabarakatuh
In accordance with the Regulations of the Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development I, on behalf of
the Board of Directors, have the honour to submit for the kind attention of the esteemed Board
of Governors, the Annual Report on the operations and activities of the Islamic Solidarity Fund for
Development in 1438H-1439H (2017).
The Annual Report also includes the audited financial statements of the ISFD as prescribed in Article
18 of the Fund’s Regulations.
Please accept, Mr. Chairman, the assurances of my highest consideration.

Dr. Bandar Bin Mohamed Hamza Hajjar
President, IDB
Chairman of the ISFD Board of Directors
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ISFD - IN BRIEF

The Islamic Solidarity Fund for
Development (ISFD) - In Brief
The decision to establish the Islamic Solidarity Fund for
Development (ISFD) was taken by the Third Extraordinary
Session of the OIC Summit, held in Makkah Al Mukarramah,
on 5-6 D. Qaeda 1426H (7-8 December 2005), as a Special
Fund within the IDB which is dedicated to reducing poverty
in its member countries through:
• Promoting pro-poor growth.
• Supporting human development, especially improvements in health care and education.
• Providing financial support to enhance the productive capacity and sustainable means of
income generation for the poor.
The Fund has been established as a Waqf (i.e. Trust/ Endowment), with a principal target capital
of US$10.00 billion. The concept of Waqf implies that only the income generated from investing
the Fund’s principal/capital will be available to finance its operations. All IDB member countries
are expected to announce their financial contributions to the Fund and extend technical and
moral support to its operations.
Two overarching themes, in line with the IDB Vision 1440H, define the focus of the ISFD: Improving
the income of the poor, and promoting the development of human capital.

ISFD Priorities and Definition of Poverty
The ISFD gives priority to meeting ‘basic
needs’, including financing employment
opportunities, providing market outlets
especially for the rural poor, improving
basic rural and pre-urban infrastructure,
such as supply of drinking water and
electricity, and expanding education
and health facilities. The ISFD views
poverty
as
a
multi-dimensional
phenomenon, encompassing not only
low income and consumption, but also
low achievement in fundamental basic
needs, including education, nutrition,
primary health, water and sanitation,
housing, crisis coping capacity, insecurity,
and all other forms of human development.

6

Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

ISFD - IN BRIEF

MAJOR HILIGHTS
OPERATIONS
Approvals in 2017
• The total approvals of the ISFD in 2017 amounts to US$175.6 million, composed of US$55.0
million for 5 projects, and US$120.6 million for 6 grants operations.
Cumulative Approvals from 2008 - 2017
• 117 operations (loans & grants) for 33 member countries, to which the ISFD has contributed
US$734.22 million.

RESOURCES OF THE FUND:
• Targeted Initial Capital: US$10.0 billion
Pledges of Capital Contributions
• US$2.70 billion pledged by 49 member countries (US$1.7 billion) and the IDB (US$1.0 billion).
Eight member countries are yet to announce their contribution to the Fund.
Paid Contributions
• Paid Contributions: US$2.58 billion; US$1.58 billion paid by member countries, and US$1.0
billion paid by the IDB. One payment was received in 2017, amounting to US$0.94 million.
ISFD Resources in-kind:
• Benin Waqf Land: US$5.35 million

INCOME IN 2017
Operating income
• US$89.61 million
Net income
• US$83.74 million

It is estimated that, at any given time, half of the world’s hospital beds are occupied by patients suffering from diseases
associated with lack of access to clean water. In developing countries, according to WHO, this number can be as high
as 80%. Access to clean drinking water and sanitation services is one of the focus areas of the ISFD policy for poverty
alleviation.
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Chairman Statement

There is no doubt that the Islamic world is now witnessing
profound changes that are presenting a decisive turning point in
the history of the Ummah. At least, in part, these developments
have been triggered by economic realities: poverty, malnutrition,
illiteracy, disease, unemployment, inequality and poor public
services. The poverty ratio among IDB member countries is twice
the world’s average, and more than half the population in no less
than a quarter of the OIC Member Countries subsists below the
poverty line. Despite the efforts made to address this situation,
the achievements made are obviously below expectations.
We are aware that the ISFD should respond to these challenges with new perspectives and
strategic actions,. In this spirit, the ISFD has strengthened its operating model and developed
economic empowerment programs to promote human development, create jobs and income
generating activities for the poor to help them break away from the circle of poverty.
Cumulatively, the ISFD has contributed US$734.22 million towards these programs as at
December 2017. This constitutes 30% of the IDB concessionary financing portfolio for the
period since the Fund’s commenced its operations in 2008. In 2017 alone, the ISFD approvals
stood at US$175.6 million, composed of US$55.0 million for projects finance, and US$120.6
million for grants. In the same year, the ISFD allocated US$20.0 million as part of its 5-year
annual commitment towards the Lives and Livelihoods Fund “LLF.” Set-up by the IDB and Bill &
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Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF), in collaboration with some member countries, the LLF seeks
to leverage US$2.0 billion in concessional financing for beneficiary countries in five years. It is
also gratifying that the ISFD has allocated US$100.0 million to the IDB-Science, Technology &
Innovation Fund (IDB-STI), in recognition of the crucial role that science and technology play in
poverty alleviation.
Similarly, the ISFD made a breakthrough by securing additional commitments from member
countries to its capital in line with the criteria that was set by the ISFD Board of Governors. This
criteria calls on member countries to determine the level of voluntary contributions to the ISFD
capital based on the country’s real GDP, total exports value and foreign exchange reserves. Thus
far, five countries have announced their contributions to the ISFD based on this criteria and more
countries are expected to follow suit.
New commitments towards the ISFD capital had amounted to US$24.1 million in 2017, and by
the end of the year, paid-up capital stood at US$2.58 billion, while commitments from member
countries and the IDB stood at US$2.70 billion. Notwithstanding this, we are aware of the need
to exert more effort to mobilize the target capital amount of US$10.0 billion. For this reason, we
have continued to further refine the Fund’s Business Model within the new IDB Organization
Structure to make it leaner and more effective by focusing on this core objective.
I wish to express my sincere appreciation to our Board of Directors for its unfailing support and
skillful leadership throughout the year, and to the ISFD staff for their dedication. ISFD management
stands committed to work hard to merit member countries’ confidence by improving the Fund’s
work methods of work and implementation mechanism, and by setting bigger goals for its
programs.

Dr. Bandar Bin Mohamed Hamza Hajjar
Chairman of the ISFD Board of Directors
President, IDB Group
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Message from the Director General
When I assumed the leadership of the ISFD
in 2016, I found the Fund faced with special
challenges. These challenges were manifested
in the lack of new contributions from member
countries for three consecutive years, unclarity
in the role of the ISFD within the IDB Group, low
disbursements, and small allocation for grants,
which were limited to a maximum 5% of the
ISFD annual income. It was also felt that the
ISFD efforts in the area of resource mobilization
needed to be enhanced. The Fund was also
required to implement a new business model
and devise stronger programs that are more
responsive to the needs of member countries. I was personally honored,
as the first Director General of the ISFD, to be charged with those reforms,
which were pursued in 2016 and gained further momentum in 2017.
Confronted with the low level of resource mobilization, we started consultations with member
countries to encourage them to announce contributions to the Fund based on the criteria that was
set by the Board of Governors since 2011. This criterion takes into account the country’s real GDP,
total exports value and foreign exchange reserves. Our efforts have started to bear fruits and five
member countries have announced their contributions to the Fund based on this important criteria
- Kuwait, Sudan, Gambia, Benin and Comoros. In this regard, I would like to extend a special
note of thanks and appreciation to these countries. Our thanks also go to Saudi Arabia who has
committed and paid US$1.0 billion to the ISFD.
It is also gratifying that a number of countries have allocated Waqf lands in favour of the ISFD,
which the ISFD can develop to generate revenues that can enhance its resources. In Benin, the
ISFD had already participated in the Ground-breaking Ceremony of its first Waqf, while all financing
arrangements have been set up and the project is expected to be completed by the end of 2021.
With regard to the specific role of the ISFD within the IDB Group, this issue has finally been decided.
The ISFD role is to mobilize the capital and complementary resources of the Fund, in addition to
developing programs for poverty alleviation for which the Fund can mobilize more financial resources
from partners. The development and implementation of the poverty alleviation programs and
investment of ISFD capital would be the responsibility of the concerned departments of the Bank.
The ISFD has developed innovative products for resource mobilization, such as the Cash Waqf
Sukuk and the Ihsan Waqf Investment Fund (IWIF). We are now using IWIF to develop a Waqf fund
to support the people of Al-Quds to improve their living standards.
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Further, the ISFD has started developing initiatives for poverty alleviation and resource mobilization,
such as:
-

The Economic Empowerment Program funds and programs with King Salman Humanitarian Aid
& Relief Centre, Al Rajhi Charity Foundation, Afghanistan Government, and Sudan Government.

-

Retain out-of-school children, with Education Above All Foundation.

-

New Jobs Creation, with Silatech Foundation.

-

The contribution to the Life & Livelihood Fund (LLF), which has been set-up by the IDB and Bill
& Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF), in collaboration with Saudi Arabia, Qatar, and UAE. Total
ISFD allocations to LLF reached US$40.0 million in 2017. This has attracted US$110.0 million
in form of grants and US$700.0 million of additional financing from other partners to develop
rural sectors and combat infectious diseases in LDMCs.

-

Support and development of science & technological initiatives to help the poor by contributing
US$100.0 million to the IDB-Science, Technology & Innovation Fund (IsDB-STI Fund). This
contribution aims to help the IDB to mobilize an additional amount of US$300.0 million from
other partners for this important Fund.

-

Fight against avoidable blindness, which aims to conduct 100,000 eye surgeries and 1 million
treatment cases over five years, in addition to participating in strengthening the capacities and
best practices in eye health in the targeted countries.

-

Community-Driven Development (CDD) Projects in Sierra Leone and Indonesia.

-

Obstetric Fistula Treatment.

The ISFD loan and grants approvals in 2017 amounted to US$175.6 million, an increase of 76.7%
over the amount of US$99.1 million approved in 2016. This amount has been allocated to propoor projects in the main productive and human development sectors in the beneficiary countries.
The ISFD has continued to support renewable energy programs to increase access in rural areas
to modern and sustainable energy at affordable rates, which is essential to achieve all SDGs. It
has also supported programs in the areas of scholarships for the needy and meritorious students,
health, agro-business, science and technology, support to Syrian refugees, and others. Thus far,
17 ISFD projects with a total cost of US$921.0 million have been satisfactorily completed.
Notwithstanding, we are aware that central to our success is to mobilize the required resources for
Fund’s programs and provide support to those who are denied the basic living necessities. Without
that, the ISFD will not be able to execute its mandate, which will shatter the hopes and aspirations
of the poverty-stricken segment of the Ummah to break away from the vicious circle of poverty.

Dr. Waleed Abdul Mohsin Al Wohaib
Director General, ISFD
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1

Burden of Poverty in IDB
Member Countries

Economic activity in both advanced and developing economies was more favorable in the past
year, with economic activity strengthening in high income countries. Global output growth is
estimated at 3.5% in 2017. Growth in the Middle East and North Africa was relatively slow in
2017, reflecting primarily a slowdown in activity in oil exports1. In particular, the decline in oil
prices had weighed further on the growth rates of the region’s oil exporters. In Sub-Saharan
Africa, the economic environment was challenging. Growth had risen slightly, but had barely
returned to positive level in per capita terms for the region as a whole.
Overall, despite the setbacks, almost all countries have accelerated their achievements over
the last decade in the education, health, and income dimensions as measured in the Human
Development Index (HDI)—to the extent that no country for which data is available had a lower
HDI value in 2017 than in 20002. Faster progress was recorded in lower HDI countries during
this period and there was notable convergence in HDI values globally, although progress was
uneven within and between regions. An essential part of human development is equity. Virtually
all studies agree that global income inequality is high, though there is no consensus on recent
trends3.

Situation in the IDB Member Countries
Over the past three decades, IDB member countries have witnessed a great progress in poverty
reduction. Robust economic growth, technological advances and globalization of trade and
finance played an essential role in improving peoples’ living standards across member countries.
Being a substantial part of the developing world, the IDB member countries also witnessed
improvement as the proportion of total population living below the extreme poverty line has
declined from 41.1% in 1990 to an estimated 21.0% in 2016, corresponding to a decrease of
20.1 percentage points. However, despite the positive trends, poverty situation remains alarming
in many IDB member countries, especially in Sub-Saharan Africa.
For the IDB member countries, most of them are reporting progress on the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) and a number of targets of the previously set UN goals (MDGs) have
been met, but not all. Extreme poverty, child mortality and maternal health have improved, as
has the incidence of HIV/AIDS in the most affected countries. The incidence of malaria has also
decreased, but by less than projected. There has been progress on universal primary education
and many countries are on target, although quality has to be improved further. The struggle for
1
2
3

14

IMF World Economic Outlook (WEO) Update, July 2017.
Various UNDP HDI Reports
COMCEC Poverty Outlook, 2017.
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Hunger Index (GHI) 2016:
– 50 countries in serious or alarming situation
• 815 million undernourished • 51.7 million wasted children • 154.8 million stunted children
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Poverty in IDB Member Countries
• Monetary poverty is significant in the member countries.
• Non-monetary poverty is devastating.
• A quarter of the population (26.75%) in the OIC member countries live under multidimensional poverty.
• Progress in the human development varies significantly between countries.
• Improvement over time but faster progress is needed.
• IDB member countries need to keep investing in people.

gender equality is making progress, with increasing women employment and girls’ education.
This good performance raises hopes for a stronger capacity to address poverty and associated
social challenges in the medium term.
Arab Region: In spite of the challenging social environment, the Arab Countries in Transition
have broadly maintained macroeconomic stability. However, rising social pressures in many
countries had impacted severely on the resilience of the region, causing FDI, local investment,
and industrial output in many countries to fall. The economic activity has also been affected by

Undernourishment in childhood is a common condition in less developed countries, with negative short- and long-term
health outcomes, and can also be associated with a lack of cognitive development. The WHO estimates that malnutrition
accounts for 54 percent of child mortality.
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IDB member countries Agricultural GDP and its share in the world
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frequent strikes, disrupted work activities, infrastructure problems, population displacement and
spillover risks to neighbouring countries. These developments have continued to dominate the
economic scene and near term prospects of the region.
The impact of the tensions is also prominent in the trade sector, affecting goods and services
trade, in particular the tourism sector. Trade disruptions have pushed up domestic prices of
staples such as wheat flour and rice, which have important implications on living conditions,
particularly for poor households. They are also worsening the already difficult labor market
conditions and resulting in further unemployment and lack of decent work opportunities, with
implications for the poor.
Oil prices in developing MENA oil exporters – accounting for nearly a third of the region’s oil
output – has fallen by more than 50% over the past two years, while oil production has also
been affected, reflecting security setbacks and infrastructure problems. Meanwhile, the GCC oil
exporters have continued to provide financial support to the transition economies.
The African Region: Although the African Region has been less affected by the recent
global social and political tensions, poverty remains prevalent across the region, in monetary
as well as multidimensional terms. GDP per capita levels are historically low and the poverty
headcount ratios at US$1.99 a day exceed 50 percent for many countries, such as Sierra Leone,
Mozambique, Chad, Niger, Uganda, and Somalia4. Similarly, in terms of HDI, these countries are
among the lowest of any region. Among the IDB member countries, with the exception of Yemen
and Afghanistan, they also rank the lowest5. In terms of multidimensional poverty index, lack of
education, inadequate living standard, and lack of income, make the Multi Poverty Index (MPI)
values particularly high for the majority of the African countries. The lowest in this category are
Niger, Mali, Burkina Faso, Guinea, Comoros, Mozambique and Chad, which suffer from severe
4
5
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Agricultural Exports and Imports in the IDB member countries
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multidimensional poverty6. Moreover, deprivations in rudimentary services and core human
needs are experienced by more than 50% of the population in the African Region.
Global Hunger Index (GHI) values for African countries show a great disparity among member
countries. However, for most of them, it ranges between moderate and serious, with two countries
at an alarming stage (Chad and Sierra Leone)7.
Asian Region: Despite steep challenges, the developing member countries in the Asian
Region have defied the odds, showing significant progress in addressing poverty challenges
and improving human development indicators. Countries across the region have continued to
register increasing per capita income, significant drop in child mortality, and increased primary
and secondary school enrollment for both boys and girls, and overall there is no serious
multidimensional poverty as in the African region.
Examining the MPI indicators, for the majority of the Asian countries, less than one-third of
the population suffers from deprivation in these indicators8. Similarly, regarding the education
and health, most of these countries suffer deprivation relating to these poverty indicators. At
least one-third of this group also suffers from food deficiency as well as deprivations related to
sanitation.
On the other hand, Global Hunger Index (GHI) values display a great variation among the
member countries in this region. While GHI values of four Asian countries are lower than 5,
namely Albania, Iran, Kazakhstan and Turkey, GHI values for two countries are severely high,
namely Bangladesh and Pakistan, which are also among the top 10 IDB member countries with
the highest GHI values9. However, all the Asian countries had made noticeable improvement on
the GHI values over the past two decades.
6
7
8
9

Global Multidimensional Poverty Index 2017 – OPHI, Oxford University, 2017.
Global Hunger Index – 2017.
Op Cit.
Global Hunger Index – 2017, Op cit.
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Food Security
In countries where food is
scarce, there are often issues
with food poverty, with millions
of people going hungry. As
such, food security has become
high on the agenda of many IDB
member countries, especially
as many rely on food imports,
particularly for countries that
do not have sufficient food
production capacity to meet
domestic demand.
A study by the Statistical,
Economic and Social Research
and
Training
Centre
for
Islamic Countries
(SESRIC]
indicates that between 20002013 food production for OIC
countries was higher than the
population growth, and above
Despite population pressure, Bangladesh has been able to improve the
the world average. However,
availability and access to nutritious, domestically produced foods through
many OIC Member Countries
the micro-finance support to small farmers.
are, on average, net food
importers are unable to meet their food needs from locally grown or reared sources - with the
per person food production lower than the world average10. This means these countries have
insufficient food production capacity to meet the domestic demand for their growing populations,
and as such must rely on food imports.
The global financial and food crises that have been encountered in the recent past had far
reaching impacts on the state of poverty, especially in countries which are net food importers.
It is estimated by the World Bank that the high food and fuel prices alone have increased the
number of the extremely poor in the world by at least 100 million. As the IDB member countries
account for 40% of the world’s poor, there is no doubt that they also account for a sizable share
of this increase.
Beside the rural poor, among those at greatest risk are the urban poor that are dependent on the
market to access food, since the share of food in their total expenditures is much higher than that
of wealthier people. Food represents about 10-20 percent of consumer spending in industrialized
nations, but as much as 60-80 percent in a typical less developed country. Thus, most poor
households in member countries are affected by food crises, specially female-headed households.
10 Statistical, Economic & Social Research & Training Centre for Islamic Countries (SESRIC), (2016). Agriculture and food
security in the OIC Members Countries.

18

Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD)

BURDEN OF POVERTY IN IDB MEMBER COUNTRIES

In addition to the old agricultural technology and low yields in the IDB member countries, the
already present impact of climate change is demanding innovation and partnership in agriculture
to address food deficiency on a sustainable basis. Building resilience in agricultural systems
and acquiring cutting-edge science to acquire knowledge about better farming practices to
the people working in the fields and pastures who need it, is also very important. This is not
an undertaking about some uncertain future – it is a fact which is posing real challenges to
farmers today, and it is having an impact on their livelihood. However, solutions to step up to this
challenge must be pursued, and they are much needed as member countries have to feed their
growing population with nutritious food. This partly requires enhancing the IDB/ISFD intervention
to make a shift in how they grow food and avoid wasting food. It is also important to support
member countries to adopt sustainable food systems to strengthen and make their food chains
more resilient to fluctuations in supply and cost.

Youth Unemployment
Youth unemployment is one of the major economic and social problems that many OIC
countries are facing and requiring urgent attention. Current and prospective challenges of
youth unemployment in these countries require comprehensive action by involvement of all
key stakeholders, including governments, private sector, education institutions and civil society
organizations. The causes of unemployment vary across countries, depending on the prevailing
socioeconomic and political conditions of each country, but most critical are insufficient job
creation and skill mismatch.
The Middle East and North Africa is currently the region with the highest youth unemployment in
the world. In particular, the share of youth (ages 15 to 24) in total unemployment is at least double
the total rate. Moreover, at about 25%, the youth unemployment rate in the MENA exceeds that
of any other region in the world11. The recent social events in the region have contributed to
a decline in the economic activity and to increased unemployment. The available jobs do not
increase proportionately with the increase in population and participation into labour force. The
challenge facing many unemployed youth is the lack of skills for the jobs that are likely to be
created as the economy grows. The mismatch between the supply of skills and competencies
by the labour force and demand by employers causes structural unemployment. From the
economic dimension, the best protective measure against youth exclusion is to maximize youth
participation in education to have the relevant skills for the labour market and maximize their
opportunity for fulfilling their aspirations.
The ILO has warned of a “scarred” generation of young workers facing a dangerous mix of
high unemployment, increased inactivity and precarious work in the transitions countries in the
Middle East, as well as persistently high working poor whose incomes still fell below the official
poverty level. There are increasingly less opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a
fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families and better prospects for
personal development.
11 Global Employment Trends for Youth 2017, ILO.
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According to the current population projections, youth population will remain a major strength
for OIC countries over the coming decades. However, there are critical issues to be addressed in
order to effectively utilize this strength. While this offers a great opportunity for OIC countries, it
also makes them face critical challenges in utilizing this great potential. High labour force growth,
skill mismatches, labour and product market rigidities, large public sectors, and high reservation
wages have been key factors behind the large and persistent level of youth unemployment.
Countries must face this challenge and not lose sight of the medium-term task of creating
more jobs, which is an essential element in fighting poverty and generating inclusive growth.
In this context, in addition to the internal reforms, countries may need technical and financial
assistance to improve the business climate and initiate effective training programs to facilitate
the integration of young workers into the labour market over the medium term.

Out-of-School Children
As countries strive to
achieve universal primary
Back to School
and secondary education by
I have a dream too ...
2030, it is estimated that 58
want to learn at a school
million children worldwide
lack access to education,
many of them are in IDB
member countries. In the
last decade, the countries
of the Middle East and
North Africa have invested
considerable
resources
to bring more children
into the classroom. Most
impressively, out-of-school
rates for primary school children have dropped, often by as much as half, bringing hope and new
opportunities to millions. However, in recent years, progress has slowed, and it is estimated that
4.3 million primary-aged children and 2.9 million lower secondary-aged children are still not in
school. If we include one year of pre-primary education – the foundation on which a child’s future
learning is built – a shocking 12.3 million children across 20 countries are being left behind.
The problem is particularly severe in conflict affected countries. Nearly half a million children in
Gaza are frequently affected by the delay of the new school year, due to the need to rehabilitate
schools, as they are used as shelters during recurring conflicts waves. The number of out-ofschool children in Yemen – already high before the conflict – has increased substantially over
the past two years. Millions of children have been affected by school closures. Due to closure of
schools, more than 350,000 children were unable to resume their education in the past school
year, bringing the estimated total of out-of-school children in Yemen to over 2 million by the
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Population growth in Africa has put a lot of pressure on public resources. With children accounting for 45% of population,
the burden on education has become overwhelming.

end of 2017. UNICEF estimates that 2,108 schools across the country over the past year could
no longer be used. In Iraq, 1.2 million children in the country were out of school in 2017 and
many schools have been damaged if not completely destroyed. Similarly, it is estimated that
1.75 million children in Syria were out of school – and for those fortunate enough to be in the
classroom, the risk of dropping out is high.
Children’s exclusion from education is also significant in the Asian Region. In Pakistan, though
the number of out-of-school children has reduced significantly over the past two years, but the
situation still calls for a real education emergency. It is estimated that a significant number of
the children between the ages of five and 16 are still out of school. Statistics further reveal that
some primary schools in the country are being run by a single teacher, and even some have
one room. Reports also indicate that a large number of the children remain enrolled from class
1 till 10th.12 In Afghanistan, reports indicate that nearly 3.5 million children have been deprived
of education due to insecurity13. Similarly, UNICEF reports confirm that though Bangladesh has
made good progress in primary school enrolment, yet a significant number of children aged 6-10
years remain out of school, and of those children, some have never been to school.
In Sub-Saharan Africa, although the region has made impressive gains in literacy and enrollment
over the past three decades, with the literacy rates increasing from 49% in 1990 to more than
60% today, yet the number of out-of-school children remains significant. It is estimated that
45 million primary-aged children are out of school, equaling nearly 40% of the primary-aged
population. Of this number, 24 million are in West and Central Africa, where 45% of primary age
12 Pakistan Education Statistic 2015-16, launched by the National Education Management Information System (NEMIS) –
a subsidiary of the Ministry of Federal Education and Professional Training – March 2017. (https://www.dawn.com/
news/1319300)
13 Ministry of Education (MoE), Pakistan, May 2017. (https://www.pajhwok.com/en/2017/05/21/35-million-afghan-childrenout-school).
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Human Development in IDB member countries: Global Trends
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children are out of school. Nigeria alone has significant number of children out of school. Literacy
rates in countries such as Niger and Burkina Faso are also low. In Burkina Faso, the primary net
enrollment rate and the primary completion rate are relatively low14. The number of secondaryaged children out of school is estimated to be three times that of the number of primary-aged
children out of school.
Broadly speaking, out-of-school children are the poorest, those who live mostly in rural areas or
from families that could not afford to send their children to school, or the schools are too far away,
or of low quality, with insufficiently trained teachers, poor learning outcomes and miserable, even
dangerous, environments. They are the millions of children who live in countries or areas that are
characterized by instability and insecurity and/or extreme poverty, and whose schools have been
destroyed by conflicts. They are also the large number of lower secondary-aged children, mostly
boys, who drop out every year.
Overcoming education exclusion will require collaborative effort to address the barriers
to schooling. Children who are out of school rarely face one single barrier to schooling, but
confront multiple barriers that interact to cause education exclusion. Governments may need to
strengthen the coordination and communication between different ministries with responsibilities
for vulnerable children. It is also important to pay greater attention to school retention. Financial
and human resources must be better targeted towards ensuring that children who drop out are
not ‘forced out’ from school, as evidence points to private tutoring as a potentially important
cause of leaving school for children from poorer households15.
To reduce the distance to school, there is a need to continue to expand the provision of school
infrastructure, in particular for girls of lower secondary age living in rural areas. Equally important
14
15
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Burkina Faso National Education Profile Update, World Bank – 2014.
Regional Report on Out-of-School Children, UNESCO Institute of Statistics, October 2014.
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Human Development in IDB member countries: Components of HDI
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is the need to increase the number of female teachers in rural areas, as they are significant role
models for girls to take control over their own destiny.
In conflict affected areas, a far higher priority to the protection of education for conflict-affected
children is urgently needed, particularly in the MENA Region. Ensuring sufficient funding for
education in emergencies, and adoption of flexible approaches for accommodating education
needs of conflict affected children by national governments, would go a long way in addressing
this problem.

Role of the ISFD
Despite the significant strides in pursuit of development, ensuring effective programs and
financial resources to address poverty in member countries remains a critical task for the ISFD.
This is particularly so in view of the massive shortfall in foreign aid. Member countries also face
significant challenges of achieving inclusive and sustainable development for all. Issues of youth
unemployment, food security, and increasing number of out-of-school children, particularly in
conflict affected areas are compounding the challenges for fighting poverty.
Notwithstanding, the ISFD has continued to develop innovative programs that will build on the
core areas of intervention as set out in the IDB Group Policy for Poverty Reduction. The ISFD
operational program for 2017 was developed to achieve this goal.
The ISFD has stepped up its efforts for resource mobilization which is critical for success of
its programs. It has also worked with partners to assist out of school children to return back to
school, and increase the opportunities for economic empowerment and job creation in member
countries. Through implementation of these programs, the Fund aims to contribute significantly
to poverty alleviation in member countries.
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ISFD Projects/Programs
The ISFD financing operations are guided by the IDB Group Policy on Poverty Reduction, the
ISFD Work Program, and Member Country Partnership Strategies (MCPSs). The Fund also draws
on the experience of the IDB and other institutions and engages external consultants to support
its programs.
The ISFD operations are formulated based on two considerations:
-

First, the needs of the member countries, particularly LDMCs, for poverty reduction support.
Second, the operating environment and best practices in the specific area of poverty
reduction.

Without rapid actions for poverty reduction, needy countries are not likely to meet their targets
with respect to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Combating poverty requires
targeted interventions in areas of social and human development, such as basic education,
health, economic empowerment, particularly for women, and providing the poor with income
generation opportunities.
The ISFD gives priority to projects and programs that form the core of poverty reduction efforts.
It also recognizes the role of partnerships and co-financing to augment its resources and scale

Rural women have limited opportunities to earn money. Farming, livestock breeding and goat fattening are becoming
more profitable for rural women in Africa who generally have small assets and have difficulty getting credit to set up their
small businesses. The ISFD has developed its vocational training and micro-finance support programs to help such needy
women develop and manage their own income-generation activities.
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up its projects. Moreover, it contains components in its programs to address cross-cutting
issues, such as environment preservation, gender and governance. The ISFD also organizes,
and participates, in workshops which are aimed to promote research and best practices in the
areas of poverty assessment, and designing and implementation of poverty alleviation projects.
The ISFD is selective in its poverty reduction support. The choice of countries, beneficiaries and
projects is decided on the basis of an approved criteria and operational guidelines. It also places
priority on achieving results and emphasizes impact and effectiveness, paying attention to the
ability to replicate projects on a multi-year basis with partners (including from the private sector)
who could add value and ‘scale-up’ a project.
The ISFD therefore tailors its poverty reduction activities to:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

Promote pro-poor growth with particular concerns for equitable distribution of the benefits.
Address the barriers and issues faced by women in economic development.
Emphasize human development; especially improvements in health care and education;
Provide social safety nets for the poor.
Support good governance and access to public service delivery by the poor.
Foster and harness ownership and commitment by member states.

Projects/Programs Approvals
Two overarching themes defined the focus of the ISFD’s projects and grant financing in 2017: (a)
ensuring that these activities create additional jobs and employment for the target groups; and
(b) promoting human development through education and health support.

Approvals
Cumulative Approvals:
Cumulatively, since the ISFD commenced its operations in 2008 up the end of 2017, the Fund
has approved 117 operations (loans & Grants), in 33 member countries, to which the ISFD has
contributed US$734.22 million.
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Approvals in 2017
Total approvals of the ISFD in 2017 amounts to US$175.6 million, composed of US$55.0 million
for projects, and US$120.6 million for grants.
The total value of the projects approved in 2017 is US$187.15 million. Therefore, the ISFD
contribution was 29.4% of the total financing. The remaining cost (US$132.15 million) was
covered by IDB and other co-financiers, including national governments, multilateral institutions,
bilateral donors, and NGOs.
The grants approvals / allocation during the year, are composed of:
-

IDB Science, Technology & Innovations (IsDB-STI )
Scholarship Program				
Obstetric Fistula Trust Fund project			
Coalition to Stop Obstetric Fistula Program		
Control of Blindness Program			
Humanitarian support project, Yemen (allocation)

: US$100.0 million
: US$10.0 million
: US$5.0 million
: US$0.1 million
: US$5.0 million
: US$0.5 million

Thus, these approvals covered the key sectors that form the core of poverty reduction programs
of the ISFD, namely rural and agricultural development, microfinance, education, health,
and renewable energy. The thrust of these operations is to combat poverty and provide the
beneficiaries with opportunities for income generation on a sustainable basis.
The ISFD recognizes human capital
as the primary asset of the targeted
groups.

Projects

in

education

and health create the foundation
on which most poverty reduction
activities are built. In education, the
ISFD has continued to emphasize
primary education as a top priority,
including education for refugees
and displaced children. In the health
sector, financing primary healthcare
units has also remained a pro-poor
priority. Within this, ante-natal care
(in particular obstetric fistula) and
disease

eradication

emphasized.
An ISFD mission, with the Director of the main microfinance institution
in the Union of Comoros (Meck-Moroni), Sist. Laila Saeed, at a
traditional wood-fired Ylang Ylang essence distillery on the main island
of Grande Comore. The distillery is supported through microfinance
from Meck-Moroni, to which the ISFD has approved US$2.9 million.
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Powering Poverty Reduction: The ISFD has launched a Flagship program that considers the energy needs of the poor and
ensures that appropriate, workable and renewable energy services are promoted for poverty alleviation.

LDMCs are major beneficiaries of the ISFD
The ISFD recognizes that around 400 million people live in poverty in 31 of the IDB LDMCs, (or
40% of the global total living on less than US$2.0 a day). There are indications that in terms of
absolute numbers the problem of poverty is getting worse in some African countries. The ISFD
Financing Policy stipulates that 80 percent of the ISFD annual financing is extended to LDMCs,
and 20 percent to address poverty pockets in non-LDMCs. Therefore, LDMCs were the main
beneficiaries of the ISFD programs in 2017. This policy aims to maximize the ISFD support to
LDMCs by combining successful lessons of experience with innovative projects that respond to
their needs for poverty alleviation.
During the year, the Fund continued to explore the opportunities for widening the coverage of its
flagship programs, in particular the Microfinance program, as a tool for addressing rural poverty
through multi-sector interventions and increasing access to financial services. This has been
considered particularly for Togo where the Government has set up a “National Fund for Inclusive
Finance” to create awareness and improve access to financial services for the benefit of the poor
and informal sector. In order to accelerate and sustain poverty reduction, the Government has
put in place measures to enhance transparency and operational efficiency of the MFIs so that
the mark-up charged by the MFIs is lowered. This is aimed to enable greater financial inclusion.
Furthermore, the Government has been encouraged to move away from the microcredit model
towards the economic empowerment of the poor model, as promoted by IDB/ISFD, in order to
encourage MFIs to do business with the poor rather than merely providing access to finance.
The Drylands Project, which was approved for East African countries, namely Djibouti, Somalia
and Uganda, has continued to receive ISFD support in 2017. The program takes a people
centered approach, whose development objective is to contribute to rural poverty reduction
and increased food security for the thousands of people who depend directly upon a highly
variable natural resource for their livelihoods, and most of them are poor. Vulnerability of these
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communities to environmental, economic and socio-cultural challenges (such as climate risks,
drought, land degradation, poor markets and migration) have been reduced through this
program, and adaptation/mitigation capacity has strengthened. These communities also benefit
from improved local governance, management and utilization of natural resources.
The ISFD programs also targeted the health sector in 2017 through grant assistance in three
countries, namely Sierra Leone, Gambia, and Bangladesh. This grant assistance is aimed to
help women who suffer from obstetric fistula, which constitutes a degrading condition in which
a large number of women who experience obstructed labor are left with injuries that cause them
to be shamed and shunned by their communities.
Similarly, the ISFD has supported Crop Value Chain Development in Guinea. Despite Guinea’s
strong hydro-geological potential and the considerable efforts made by the authorities,
agriculture production and productivity remain fairly low in rural areas and are in need for support.
Public interventions to accelerate agricultural growth have targeted poor producers engaged in
largely subsistence production with modest interaction with markets. By approving this project,
therefore, the ISFD aims to support the development of an efficient and sustainable agriculture
in Guinea, contributing to better conditions in the rural areas.
The ISFD has also supported development of the livestock sub-sector through enhancement of
small ruminants production in Gambia. Small ruminants are relatively easy to own by resource
poor farmers, specially women. Sheep and goats are often used as a first step up out of
poverty. The animals reproduce fast and are raised in a wide range of production system. The

IDB Field Representative in Chad, Br. Ali Osman Taha, holding a meeting with the beneficiaries of the ISFD Sustainable
Villages Project in Salamat Region, Chad
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project will directly reach more
than
for

30,000
production,

households
processing,

and marketing of sheep and
goat products. It will lead to
improved genetics for local
breeds, and the establishment
of

model

processing

productions

and

infrastructures

that beneficiaries will learn to
manage. The components are
all designed to target women
and youth residing primarily in
rural areas for job creation.
An agro-pastoral development
project has also been approved

Nearly 75% of the world’s blind are avoidably so. Evidence suggests that
approximately 1% of the people in sub-Saharan Africa are blind. However,
the bulk of blindness in the region is preventable or curable. The ISFD is
leading efforts with partners to mobilize additional resources to treat
avoidable blindness in African member countries.

for Nigeria. The project involves cross-cutting issues, such as private sector engagement,
climate-smart agriculture, gender mainstreaming, and human nutrition. It is designed to tackle
the major problems affecting the development of livestock and crop value chains developments
in the State of Kano through structural investments in fodder production, land development,
capacity building and incentives for private investments in key segments of the chain of value.
It is also expected to address the issue of fodder availability through promotion of commercial
fodder production, marketing and development of grazing lands. It will also promote livestock
and crop interventions that will increase farmers’ income and rural economic growth through
integrated set of interventions. These include access to knowledge, inputs, warehousing, and
improved commercialization of agricultural products.
Similarly, the ISFD has approved a loan for a rural electrification project through renewable energy
under reverse linkage in Niger. Access to modern and sustainable energy is a key prerequisite to
achieve almost all of the SDGs (eradication of poverty, advancements in health, education, water
supply and industrialization, and combating climate change). As one of the countries having
the lowest access to electricity rate in Africa, this project remains priority for the ISFD in its
support to this country. It is designed to provide sustainable, reliable and electricity supply to
rural population at affordable rates. By completion of the project, about 17,500 households’
connections for a targeted population of 122,500 and 1,500 connections to public facilities
(schools, health centers etc.) and small businesses will be achieved.
The ISFD also approved a scholarship program. Despite the importance given to all aspects of
human development in member countries and Muslim Communities in non-member countries,
all indications show how many member countries are lagging behind in human development,
particularly in science and technology. Therefore, it is in the spirit of giving more attention to the
needy and meritorious students in education that this program has been initiated to address
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this need. It will contribute to the IDB Group mission of creating dynamic approaches to capacity
development and knowledge sharing in in member countries.
The ISFD has also approved a grant operation to support the Second Generation of the Alliance
to Fight Avoidable Blindness. This Alliance has been prepared in collaboration with stakeholders
involved in eye care. It is based on an impact assessment of the First Generation of the Alliance,
including a SWOT analysis and stakeholder evaluation, eye health status in the targeted African
member countries, and best practices in eye health. The program will be implemented within
a period of five years from commencement. A set of specific packages of interventions for
each country will be adapted to the needs assessment. The activities for each country will be
developed as part of the National Eye Care Programs under the authority of the Ministry of
Health, combined with strengthening of the national programs for control of blindness. This will
ensure sustainability of the required services beyond the program life.

Promoting Co-Financing with Development Partners
Co-financing as part of the drive to mobilize resources is vital for leveraging ISFD resources to
have meaningful impact on the beneficiary countries. There is evident need for partnerships,
particularly with external development finance institutions, to enhance the effectiveness and
efficiency of ISFD financing. Co-financing can lead to improvement in efficiency across the
financing institutions, achieve best practices, catalyzing investments, and “doing more with less.”
Therefore, the ISFD places great emphasis on mobilizing funds to supplement its concessionary
financing. Co-financing may be in the form of a grant or a loan (concessional or non-concessional).
It can also be provided on a parallel or joint basis, although the majority is provided on parallel
basis.
Table-1: Distribution of ISFD Cumulative Operations by Sector (2008-2017)
In US$ million
Sector
Agri. and Rural Develop.

238.59

Education

201.09

Energy

64.15

Finance

75.40

Health

99.99

Transport

28.00

Water & Sanitation
Other
Grand Total
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Table-2: Distribution of ISFD Cumulative Operations Between
LDMCs & Non-LDMCs (2008-2017) - In US$ million
ISFD Operations (Loans & Grants)
Global

10.0

LDMCs

543.8

Non-LDMCs

180.4

Grand Total

734.2

Importance of strategic partnerships: In line with the IDB Policy on Poverty Reduction, the
ISFD endeavors to form strategic partnerships for effective implementation of its programs.
These partnerships give the Fund an opportunity to access a broader range of resources and
expertise than it would otherwise have. This means that partnerships can assist in offering
beneficiary countries unique skill sets and co-financing that add value to the ISFD intervention.
Partnering with NGOs and specialized agencies in the health sector – such as Fighting Obstetric
Fistula and Avoidable Blindness – ensures that these partners deliver excellence in service areas
that are vital for the success of the ISFD projects.
They also create an incentive for the beneficiary countries to use ISFD financing responsibly
to fulfill the project’s targets if they participate in the costs, and provide the ISFD with higher
leverage for its limited funds. It is also one of the best ways of strengthening working relationships,
enhancing governance, and therefore amplifying interests and successes.
The ISFD has developed partnerships with a broad development community. The primary
partners of the ISFD in development interventions are the governments of the beneficiary
countries. However, the Fund has strengthened its policy dialogue by involving a wider range
of stakeholders in its programs, particularly in the implementation of its Vocational Literacy
Program (VOLIP), Microfinance Support Program (MFSP), and the Sustainable Villages Program
(SVP). In doing so, the ISFD aims to learn lessons by strategically partnering with institutions and
organizations that have rich experience or better placed to secure participation and effective
implementation of the specified programs.
Strong working relationships have been developed with the World Bank, Asian Development
Bank, Qatar Red Crescent, Silatech, Education Above All, Arab Bank for Development in Africa
(BADEA), and the OPEC Fund for International Development (OFID). Relationships with these
partners are geared toward fostering mutual sharing of knowledge and technical expertise
and efforts in project co-financing and implementation. They also assist in project appraisal,
supervision, and sustaining the development efforts after completion of the project.
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42nd IDB Group Annual Meeting of the Board of Governors, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, 14-18 May 2017

Activities of the ISFD Board of Governors
The 10th Annual Meeting of the ISFD BOG was held in Jeddah in Saudi Arabia on 22 Sha`ban
1438H (18 May 2017), in conjunction with the 42nd IDB Group Annual Meeting of the BOG. The
BOG approved all the recommendations presented to it in connection with the ISFD, and adopted
6 resolutions relating to those recommendations.
The BOG adopted the Ninth ISFD Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the
period 14 October 2015 to 31 December 2016. It also deliberated on the progress of the Fund
during 2016 and commended the ISFD management for the results achieved during the year.
While acknowledging the efforts made in respect of resource mobilization, the BOG expressed
concerns about the low level of contributions to the capital of the ISFD by member countries
which constrain its operations.
Although the BOG adopted a landmark resolution in its 4th Annual Meeting in 2011 calling
on member countries to base their voluntary capital contributions to the ISFD on an average
weighted criterion of three indicators, namely: a country’s real GDP, value of exports of goods
and services, and the value of foreign exchange reserves, only a few countries had made
commitments on the basis of the approved criteria. However, the BOG was informed that some
countries had contacted the ISFD seeking assistance on how the criterion for contributions
could be implemented.
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In addition, the BOG was informed that tangible progress was made in relation to the
implementation of the BOG resolution No. Resolution No ISFD/BG/3-433 calling on the member
countries to support the efforts of the ISFD in resource mobilization by allocating a suitable
Waqf (Trust) in favour of the ISFD which the ISFD can develop to generate revenues that can
enhance its resources. In particular, a number of countries had already pledged or indicated
their readiness to pledge appropriate Waqfs for the ISFD. In one member country (Benin), the
ground-breaking ceremony of an ISFD Waqf Tower on a donated plot land in Cotonou was held
on 9 February 2016. Similarly, a plot of land at a prime location in Ouagadougou has also been
offered to the ISFD.
The BOG asked the management to continue its consultations with the member countries with a
view to generate enough commitment for Waqf allocations and making appropriate contributions
to the ISFD capital that are commensurate with their economic and financial abilities.
The BOG decided that the 11th Annual Meeting of the ISFD Board of Governors be held in
conjunction with the 43rd Annual Meeting of the IDB Board of Governors in Tunis, Tunisia on 18
Rajab 1439H (5 April 2018). It also approved the appointment of Ernst & Young as Auditors for
the ISFD Accounts for the Financial Year 1439H-1440H (2018). The Annual Meeting also afforded
the opportunity to stage a side event and meetings with representatives of member countries
and partner institutions.

Activities of the ISFD Board of Directors
As per the ISFD Regulations, the Board of Executive Directors of the IDB is the Board of Directors
of the ISFD (BOD) and chaired by the President of the IDB.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the activities of the Fund, and for this
purpose may exercise all the powers delegated to it by the Board of Governors. The Board meets
at least three times annually. It is responsible for approving loans, policies, the administrative
budget, setting the terms and conditions of financing and operational procedures, providing
guidance on specific fields of activity, and making decisions on strategic matters in accordance
with the powers conferred on it by the Regulations. The Board has a Standing Committee (the
Audit Committee) that reviews and discusses documents for subsequent submission to the
Board for approval. In 2007, the BOD held four meeting, during which it considered items related
to projects financing and policy matters. The BOD considered three ISFD Progress Reports
highlighting the activities carried out by the Fund and areas for further actions and improvement.
The Board approved five loan projects amounting to US$55.0 million, in addition to a number
of grant operations, amounting to US$120.6 million. The Board observed that there is a critical
need to increase the amount of yearly disbursements. It emphasized that combating poverty
requires targeted interventions in the areas of social and human development, such as basic
education, health services and capacity building, empowering citizens, men and women equally,
and providing the poor with social safety nets. The BOD also approved a grant amounting to
US$100.0 million to the newly created IDB-Science, Technology and Innovation Fund (STI), in
recognition of the great role that Science & Technology play in poverty alleviation.
The Board noted the improvement in the returns on the ISFD investments in 2017, though it
encouraged the ISFD management to exert more efforts to enhance the investment portfolio.
In doing so, the BOD approved the ISFD Ihsan Waqf Investment Fund (IWIF) program and
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ISFD Director General, Dr. Waleed Al Wohaib, meeting IDB Vice President, H.E. Zamir Iqbal, to discuss collaboration with
ISFD on partnerships and resource mobilization.

the request to open bank accounts in selected countries to receive financial contributions to
support ISFD projects. It commended the ISFD management for the initiatives, partnerships and
networking relationships that the ISFD has developed.
The BOD approved the ISFD Program Implementation and Administrative Expenses Budget for
2018 amounting to ID3.9 million (approximately US$5.69 million), of which ID2.0 million (approx.
US$2.92 million) for program cost, ID0.4 million (approx. US$0.58 million) for administrative
expenses, and ID1.5 million (approx. US$2.19 million) for personnel cost. It also advised that the
ISFD should consider optimizing its work program by enhancing its resource mobilization efforts.
It further emphasized the need for an extensive resource mobilization campaign at the member
countries’ level for this purpose.

Contributions to the ISFD Capital
The Board considered the low level of announced contributions to the ISFD capital, but
acknowledged the progress made in 2017 with countries starting to make pledges based on
the BOG approved criteria for contributions, taking into account the country’s real GDP, total
exports value and foreign exchange reserves (ISFD BOG Resolution No. SFD/BG/3-432). The
Board also emphasized the importance of adopting an effective communication strategy to
create awareness of the Fund’s activities, which can help it in its resource mobilization strategy.

ISFD New Organization Structure and Business Model
The IDB BED, at its 323rd Meeting, held in December 2017, adopted a new business model for
the ISFD within the new Organization Structure of the IDB. Accordingly, the Director General
would be the Head of ISFD Coordination Unit reporting directly to the IDB President. The principal
function of the ISFD Unit is the mobilization of the ISFD capital resources and coordination with
IDB Complexes in all matters relating to resource mobilization, operations and investments.
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Moreover, an Administrative Instruction was issued on 8 November 2017 to support the ISFD in
implementing its new initiatives that have been cleared by the BOD. It defines the role of the ISFD
as mobilising the resources of the Fund in accordance with the following:
(A) Encouraging States which have announced, but not paid their contribution to the capital of
the Fund, to pay the full amount committed as soon as possible; urge countries which have
paid their contributions to increase them; and urge countries which have not yet done so, to
contribute to the capital of the Fund.
(B) Developing the Awqaf of the ISFD, and those Awqaf allocated to combat poverty in member
states of the Organization of Islamic Cooperation (OIC).
(C) Establish and develop anti-poverty programs for resource mobilization, to be implemented
through the relevant departments of the IDB or other specialized bodies.
(D) Establish and develop investment funds and projects for the purpose of mobilizing investment
resources to support the investments of the Fund and increase the returns used to combat
poverty.
(E) Carry out the required promotional and marketing activities to promote the ISFD and its
efforts in resource mobilization.
(F) Submit the necessary proposals to the competent bodies in the areas of investment of
the Fund’s resources and implementation of its programs to combat poverty to improve
performance.

ISFD Knowledge Events
The ISFD held an event on “Youth Economic Empowerment through: Islamic Micro-finance and
Waqf Development Forum” on 15 May 2017, on the occasion of the 42nd IDBG Annual Meeting
of the Board of Governors/ 10th ISFD BOG Meeting. The objectives of the Forum were:

The Director General of the
ISFD, Dr Waleed Al Wohaib,
and the Secretary General
of Common Market of
Eastern and Southern Africa
(COMESA), Mr. Sindiso
Ngwenya, held a bilateral
meeting on the Margins of
the 42nd Annual Meeting of
the IDB Board of Governors;
10th Annual Meeting of the
ISFD BoG, in Jeddah on
18 April 2017. They agreed
that ISFD and COMESA
would cooperate to support
development programs in
cross member countries;
namely: Sudan, Uganda,
Comoros, Djibouti, Libya,
Mozambique and Somalia.
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•

Showcase ISFD achievements for youth empowerment along with the different success
stories in the Member Countries.

•

Highlight the role of “Islamic Micro Finance” to support youth empowerment via generating
job opportunities and fighting unemployment.

•

How “Islamic Waqf” can provide innovative means and tools for effective youth empowerment.

•

Showcase ISFD as a hub for ever effective “Islamic Waqf”

The Speakers in the Forum were: Dr. Osman El feel, Advisor to the DG BADEA, Forum Moderator;
Eng. Rami Abul Jadail, Assistant to the Director General, Social Development Bank, Saudi Arabia;
Mr. Tareq Lengawy, Founder, Mashoura United; Eng. Anas Al Hasnawy, consultant on economic
empowerment and waqf development; and Mr. Mahmoud Al shami, CEO Jana Build Productive
Family Center.
The forum provided an opportunity for specialized experts to discuss the ISFD achievements
in youth empowerment and the programs of Micro-finance and Islamic Waqf” as an innovative
means for youth empowerment.
It was also well attended, with more than 200 participants, mainly from member country’s
participants in the IDB Annual Meeting. The main recommendations of the event focused on
supporting youth empowerment, mainly through
•

Creating an ISFD website as a “HUB” for Microfinance and Waqf Development.

•

Organizing an annual competition to honor outstanding achievements and programs and
initiatives aimed at supporting the economic empowerment of youth in all member countries.

•

Supporting strategic partnership with national and regional institutions and organizations in
the area of economic empowerment and micro finance.

•

Forming strategic partnerships between the ISFD and organizations and parties interested

Dr. Osman Mahjoub El feel, Advisor to the Director General, BADEA, Forum Moderator.
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ISFD Director General, meets with the Director General of Family Bank, Amal Gasim Ahmed, Khartoum, Sudan. The
meeting discussed opportunities for supporting Family Bank to implement a Microfinance and Economic Empowerment
Program in Sudan.

in the economic empowerment of youth to join efforts and maximize the chances of success
in the areas of:
-

Support tools for mobilizing financial resources.
Support capacity building efforts.
Prevent conflicts of effort and identify the priorities of programs and projects.
Exchange field studies and lessons learned.

•

Establishing Trust Funds to support the Fund’s programs in Member States

•

Building a Trust Fund to support ISFD programs for youth empowerment.

Receiving Delegations of Partner Institutions
Kuwaiti Direct Aid Organization: Delegation discussed the possibility of developing a partnership
between ISFD and Direct Aid Organization to harness resources for combating blindness in
Africa and poverty alleviation projects.
The Islamic Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (ISESCO): The delegation discussed
the opportunity for collaboration with them on developing and scaling up a scholarship program
for the needy and meritorious students.
Arab Bank for Economic Development in Africa (BADEA): Delegation discussed possible areas
of collaboration between the ISFD and BADEA on the program on the fight against avoidable
blindness in Africa, and the financing of the ISFD Waqf projects in West Africa.
Turkish Humanitarian Relief Foundation (IHH): Delegation discussed possible collaboration
between ISFD and IHH on the program on the fight against avoidable blindness in Africa.
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International Institute of Islamic Waqf (IIIW): Delegation discussed collaboration to develop the
Waqf assets in Al-Quds.
Al-Najat Charity Society: The meeting discussed partnership between the ISFD and the Society
which can lead to greater developmental impact and achieve the common objectives of the two
institutions.

ISFD Delegation meeting with Al Rajhi Foundation to discuss areas of possible cooperation on the ISFD Economic
Empowerment Program.

The ISFD received a delegation from the Kuwaiti Direct Aid Organization on 4 October 2017. The two sides agreed to
cooperate to harness resources for combating blindness and poverty in Africa.
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ISFD meeting with the UNDP delegation on the margins of the 10th ISFD Annual Meeting of the Board of Governors in
Jeddah - 18 May 2017. The meeting discussed the cooperation between the ISFD and the UNDP in the development of
the Fund’s program on Economic Empowerment.

IHH Humanitarian Relief Foundation (IHH), Istanbul, presents a trophy to the ISFD in recognition of its role in supporting
the efforts to combat avoidable blindness in member countries. The trophy was received by Dr. Azhari Gasim Ahmed,
Lead Economist & Resource Mobilization Team Leader, on behalf of the ISFD.
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Resources of the ISFD
The ISFD has an approved target capital of US$10.0 billion. The capital commitments as at
the end of 2017 amounts to US$2.704 billion, representing 27.0% of the target capital (Annex
IV). These are composed of voluntary contributions by member countries of the IDB, and the
IDB. The Fund has no callable capital. Total pledges as at the end of 2017 stood at US$2.7
billion, composed of US$1.7 billion committed by 49 IDB member countries, and US$1.0 billion
committed by the IDB. The biggest pledges were made by Saudi Arabia (US$1.0 billion), Kuwait
(US$300.0 million), and Iran (US$100.0 million).
New commitments, amounting to US$24.1 million, were made by 4 countries in 2017, namely:
Sudan (US$21.1 million); Togo (US$1.0 million), Brunei Darussalam (US$1.0 million), and Maldives
(US$1.0 million).
Paid-up capital reached US$2.58 billion as at the end of 2017, compared to US$2.53 billion
in 2016. Of the cumulative payments, as of end-2017, US$1.58 billion was paid by member
countries and US$1.0 billion by the IDB. One payment was received from a member country in
2017, Benin, amounting to US$0.94 million. Moreover, a payment was made by the IDB as the
final instalment of its US$1.0 billion contribution, amounting to US$50.0 million. Of the committed
contributions, the remaining amount to be paid, as at the end of 2017, is US$143.85 million.

Complementary Resources:
The ISFD aims to obtain complementary resources through: (i) Specialized Trust Funds for
poverty alleviation; (ii) Waqf Land Development in Member Countries; (iii) co-financing with
partners; and (iv) Partnership with philanthropists, social investors, and the private sector. So far,
the Fund has focused on the ISFD Waqf projects, while efforts are being made to benefit from
other complementary resources.
Since the adoption of resolution No. ISFD/BG/3-433) in 2012, calling on the member countries “to
take all measures to support the efforts of the ISFD in resource mobilization, such as allocating
a suitable Waqf in favour of the ISFD which the ISFD can develop to generate revenues that can
enhance its resources”, the ISFD has continued consultations with member countries to allocate
Waqf assets to the Fund. As at the end of 2017, the three countries have allocated plots of
land to the ISFD within the framework of the Waqf program, namely: Benin, Burkina Faso, and
Comoros.
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Benin
The land allocated to ISFD in Benin has been valued at US$5.4 million. The project cost is
estimated at US$22.0 million. Projections show a pre-tax IRR of 13.3% based on an equity-debt
ratio of 45%-55%. In accordance with the financing plan, the ISFD will contribute US$9.7 million
from its own resources and the IDB Awqaf Properties Investment Fund (APIF) will contribute
US$6.0 million. An amount of US$6.0 million will be mobilized from external sources.

Burkina Faso
A plot of land at a prime location in Ouagadougou has been allocated to the ISFD is working
on the valuation of the land before a feasibility study for development of the Waqf project is
undertaken.

Comoros
The Government of Comoros has allocated a plot of land measures over 5 hectares to the
ISFD on the Corniche de Moroni. The valuation of the land will be undertaken as soon as the
Government provides ISFD with the title documents of the land.
Expressions of interest to offer Waqf land for the ISFD have also been made by Cote D’Ivoire,
Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Sierra Leone, Cameroon, Maldives, Togo and Sudan.

Investment of Capital Resources
The Fund has separate accounts and records of its capital resources and operations. All
operations and investment activities of the Fund are conducted in conformity with Shariah
(Islamic law) governing Islamic Awqaf (Trusts). Although the accounts of the Fund are maintained
in US dollars, the ISFD Regulations stipulate that they can be kept in any currency, currencies, or
unit of account that the Board of Directors of the Fund may consider appropriate. As an interim
measure, however, the BOD decided to use the US dollar as a unit of account of the Fund
since its capital is denominated in US dollars. The Fund’s accounts are kept by the IDB Finance
Control Department and its capital resources are invested by the Treasury and Investments
Departments of the IDB.

Income
The ISFD liquid funds are composed of paid-up contributions from member countries and the
IDB, in addition to the unutilized earnings of the Fund. These funds are invested in commodity
Murabaha and short-term Shariah compatible placements.
ISFD total income in 2017 is US$89.61 million, a slight increase over the US$87.66 million achieved
in 2016. It was mainly composed of income from investments in Sukuk which dominated the
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investment classes during 2017(US$64.98 million), and investments in commodity placements
(US$19.8 million).
Net income achieved during the year is US$83.74, compared to US$83.04 in 2016, an increase
of 0.84%. This constitutes a return of 2.86% and 2.89% on the net assets of ISFD in these
two years respectively. The increase in the Fund’s net assets by 2.1% (from US$2.87 billion,
to US$2.93 billion), was accompanied by an appreciation in the rate of return on the Fund’s
investments of its capital resources during 2017.

Provision for Losses
A provision for loan impairment of US$6.15 million was incurred in 2017, compared to US$15.4
million impairment for 2016.

Disbursements
Disbursements for operations had amounted to US$26.4 million in 2017, compared to US$33.43
million in the 2016. Cumulative disbursements of the Fund since 2007 were standing at US$156.33
million by the end of 2017.

Management of Liquid Funds
The ISFD is required to invest its capital and retained earnings which are not immediately required
for financing its operations. As a Waqf (i.e. Trust), paid-up capital is not used in the Fund’s
operational activities. To maximize income, liquidity is maintained only to the extent required to
meet the Fund’s current cash requirements and undisbursed commitments for the short term. All
ISFD capital resources are invested based on the approved ISFD Investment Policy.

ISFD Key Financial Indicators (in US$ million)
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2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Capital Commitments

2,679.36

2,679.36

2,679.36

2,681.73

2,702.00

Capital Payments

2,166.65

2,269.59

2,377.59

2,482.14

2,584.22

Contributions received
from MCs

323.43

2.94

7.99

2.94

0.94

Contributions received
from the IDB

100

100

100

150

50

Gross Income

29.49

75.64

65.025

87.66

89.61

Net Income

26.48

72.33

62.07

83.04

83.74
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87.66
75.64 72.33

29.49

83.04

89.61

83.74

65.025 62.07

26.48

2013

2014

2015

Gross Income

2016

2017

Net Income

Key Investments Indicators (in US$ million)
Item

2016

2017

Total Assets Deployed

2760.6

2854.1

Treasury Assets Income

96.77

88.39

2.7

3.66

0.526

0.549

Total Income from Investments

84.5

86.57

Normalized Income

90.3

86.07

Investment Assets Income
Syndicated Ijarah Income

-

Income generated by all investment assets stood at US$86.57 million in 2017, compared to
US$84.5 million in 2016.

-

Normalized Income for 2017 amounted to US$ 86.07 million after adjusting for Sukuk fair
value losses (US$ 2.33 million) to the net income for 2017 (US$ 83.74 million). This reflects
a 4.9% decrease from the previous year, noting the implications of transitioning from Hijri to
Gregorian for financial reporting purposes.

-

Return on Investments marginally dropped from 3.06% in 2016 to 3.03% in 2017.

-

Net Asset Value increased from US$2.87 billion in 2016 to US$ 2.93 billion in 2017.

-

The Total Investment Portfolio saw a 3.38% increase, from US$2.76 billion in 2016 to
US$2.85 billion in 2017. It was comprised mainly of: (i) Treasury Assets (US$2.67 billion) –
accounting for 93.7% of the total investment portfolio, compared to 93.2% in 2016, and (ii)
Investment Assets (US$180.22 million). Sukuk Investments increased from US$1.83 billion
in 2016 to US$1.85 billion in 2017. Total ISFD investments in Treasury assets reached 93.7%
of the total investment portfolio in 2017. Also, 65% of total investment assets were Sukuk
instruments as at the end of the year.
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ISFD Approved Projects Profiles - 2017
1. Rural Electrification Project Through Renewable Energy
Under Reverse Linkage - Niger
Rationale of the Project:
Access to modern and sustainable energy services is a key prerequisite to achieve almost
all of the Sustainable Development Goals (eradication of poverty, advancements in health,
education, water supply and industrialization, and combating climate change). As one of the
countries having the lowest access rate to electricity in Africa, this project remains challenged
by the low density of population in the projects’ area.
The project aims to support Niger in addressing the critical issue of lack of electricity in rural areas
by contributing to increase the electricity access rate, currently estimated at 11% countrywide
and less than 1% in rural areas. It also aims to strengthen the capacity of the National Agency
for the Promotion of Rural Electrification (ANPER) in developing and managing sustainable rural
electrification Infrastructure. It is expected that by 2021, about 17,500 households connections
for a targeted population of 122,500 and 1,500 connections to public facilities (schools, health
centers etc.) and small businesses will be realized. The number of 122,500 people, comprising
about 51% of women, will have access to electricity in the project area by 2021. The staff of
ANPER will be trained in various fields - management, design and implementation of rural
electrification. Moreover, the project will allow ANPER to have a master plan for decentralized
solutions for each region of the country.
The project has been formulated by using the IDB Reverse Linkage approach based on the
following scheme:
•

Morocco, through the National Office for Electricity and Potable Water of Morocco (ONEE)
will be the provider of expertise and know-how in the field of rural electrification;

•

Niger, through ANPER is the main recipient of the expertise and know-how as well as provider
of in-kind support through the facilitation of the logistical arrangements in the country;

•

IDB, undertakes a connecter and financing role, as well as facilitator, of the transfer of
knowledge.

The project’s estimated total cost is US$32.03 million, to which the ISFD will contribute US$10.0
million by way of loan financing, the IDB will provide US$20.0 million. The rest will be provided
by the Government of Niger and (ONEE), and the Reverse Linkage Partner (Morocco).
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2. Kano State Agro-Pastoral Development Project, Nigeria
Rationale of the Project:
Nigeria, ranking at 152 out of 188 countries on the global Human Development Index (HDI) scale,
is among the lowest globally. The National Bureau for Statistics (NBS) reported the incidence
of poverty in Nigeria as 72% with about 63% of the population living on less than US$2.0 a
day. About 70% of the population of Nigeria depends largely on agriculture for their means of
livelihoods and about 85% of those that depend on agriculture live in the rural areas with more
than two-thirds living on farms. In order to reduce poverty and improve the status of agriculture,
Nigeria has put in place an Agricultural Promotion Policy that is focusing on solving the core
issues at the heart of limited food production and delivery of quality standards to Nigerians.

Project objectives and key results:
The project development objective is to contribute to poverty reduction and to strengthen food
and nutrition security of vulnerable population in Kano State. It will tackle the major problems
affecting the development of livestock and crop value chains developments through structural
investments in fodder production, land development, capacity building and incentives for private
investments in key segments of the chain value. It will address the issue of fodder availability
through the promotion of commercial fodder production, marketing and the development of
grazing lands. The project will promote livestock and crop interventions that will substantially
increase farmers’ income and rural economic growth through integrated set of interventions,
including access to knowledge, inputs and credit, warehousing and enhanced commercialization
of agricultural produce. It will also consider some relevant cross cutting issues, such as private
sector involvement, climate-smart agriculture, gender mainstreaming and human nutrition.
The estimated total cost of the project is US$95.0 million. The ISFD will contribute US$15.0
million towards this amount by way of loan financing, the IDB will contribute US$75.0 million, and
the rest will be provided by the Government of Nigeria.

3. Agriculture and Food Security – Guinea
Rationale for Country and Sector Support
Guinea is endowed with large water resources potential, composed of four major rivers, and
considerable groundwater potential. Despite the country’s strong hydro-geological potential and
the considerable efforts made by the Authorities, agriculture production and productivity remain
fairly low in rural areas. Public interventions to accelerate agricultural growth have targeted poor
producers largely engaged in subsistence production with modest interaction with markets. The
project will support the Government of Guinea in ensuring an efficient and sustainable agriculture
and contributing to better conditions in rural areas. Specifically, the primary outcomes of this
project will be: strengthened value chains in order to raise rural incomes, improved food security,
and permitting the transition of subsistence crop farming system towards a sustainable marketdriven system.
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The project will grow sweet orange, potato, maize, cassava, and yam, all of which are key for
smallholders in the target area. It will help to achieve sector perspectives by strengthening: (i)
Farmers Association within the targeted value chains; and (b) value chains that provide improved
access to affordable, better quality food and markets. Therefore, the project will help the
Government of Guinea to implement the proposed National Economic and Social Development
Plan (PNDES).

Project Objectives and Key Results
The objective of the project is to develop a sustainable Crop Value Chain sector in order to
raise rural incomes, improve food security, and permit the transition of subsistence crop farming
system towards a sustainable market-driven system. The project will target: (i) smallholders
who are members of peasant organizations operating in the selected value chains and able to
take advantage of the opportunities offered by the project; (i) other farmers whose livelihoods
are directly related to the targeted value chains. Expected key results are: (i) increase in total
production of targeted value chains among participating small and medium scale commercial
farmers; (ii) percentage increase in total sales of agricultural products under the targeted value
chains. These value chains are orange sweet potatoes, potato, yam, cassava, maize, and
selected vegetables.
The project’s estimated total cost is €39.83 million, to which the ISFD will contribute €8.47 million
(US$10.0 million) by way of loan financing, the IDB €29.66 million, and the rest (€1.70 million) will
be provided by the Government of Guinea.

4. Small Ruminants Production Enhancement Project – The Gambia
Rationale of the Project
The Gambia is a low-income country with a predominantly agricultural based economy. The
authorities have taken a number of upfront policy actions. Livestock production in The Gambia
is mainly characterized by a low-input management system, where ownership is generally an
indication of poverty among rural dwellers. Small ruminants play a major role for most people in
their everyday needs for animal products as well as during specific social events. The livestock
sub-sector provides employment, especially in the rural areas, and contributes about 8% of the
national GDP.

Project Objectives and Key Results
The objective of the project is to contribute to the improvement of the livelihood of rural
communities in The Gambia. Specifically, it will directly benefit more than 30,000 households.
Expected key results include: (i) increase average daily gain for local breeds of sheep and West
African Dwarf goat (from 50g to 75g); (ii) greater access to veterinary services through the
establishment of 10 veterinary drug outlets, better feeding strategies (creation of 30 grazing
plots); (iii) increased availability of lamb meat at affordable prices; (iv) improved access to water
(with the establishment of boreholes equipped with solar energy); and (v) build the capacity of
individuals and producers’ organizations in production, processing and marketing techniques.
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The project’s estimated total cost is US$26.81 million, to which the ISFD will contribute US$10.0
million by way of loan financing. The IDB will contribute US$15.17 million, and the rest (US$1.64
million) will be provided by the Government of The Gambia.

5. Micro-Finance Support Project, Togo
Rationale of the Project
One of the strategies identified by the Government of Togo for poverty reduction is increasing
access to financial services for the poor population. At 0.487, Togo ranked 166 out of 188 countries
in the UN’s Human Development Index (HDI) for 2015. The overall poverty rate is estimated at
55.1%, with concentration in the rural areas whereby nearly 81.2% of the population lives below
the poverty line (less than US$2.0 per day). Without rapid actions for poverty reduction, Togo is
not likely to meet its target with respect to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Project Objectives and Key Results:
The overall development objective of this project is to contribute to improved financial inclusion,
poverty reduction and increased resilience of beneficiaries to economic, social and climate
related shocks. The specific purposes of the project are to improve the livelihood of the poor
and generate employment by strengthening the financial, technical and institutional capacities
of partners and stakeholders to support financial inclusion. The project is expected to result in
improved livelihoods of beneficiaries and generation of employment in Togo. The percentage of
adults with an account in a formal institution is expected to rise to 18% by 2025. The percentage
increase in the income of beneficiaries is expected to be around 20%. In terms of core sector
indicators, at least 60,000 people are expected to receive training and access to microfinance,
with over 1000 new jobs generated.
The project’s estimated total cost is US$22.0 million, to which the ISFD will contribute US$10.0
million by way of loan financing, the IDB US$10.0 million, and the Government of Togo (US$2.0
million).
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ISFD Approved Projects - 2017
Project
1.

Crop Value Chain Development Project

2.

Micro Finance Support Project

3.

Small Ruminants Production
Enhancement Project

4.

Rural Electrification Project through
Renewable Energy under Reverse Linkage

5.

Kano State Agro Pastoral Development
Project

Total
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ISFD
Country Contribution
US$ Million

Total Cost
US$ Million

Guinea

10.0

47.4

Togo

10.0

22.0

Gambia

10.0

21.64

Niger

10.0

30.49

Nigeria

15.0

65.62

55.0

187.15
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ANNEX- III

ISFD Approved/Allocated Grants – 2017
US$ Million
1.

IDB-Science, Technology & Innovation Fund (IsDB-STI)

2.

Scholarship Program

3.

Obstetric Fistula Trust Fund project

5.0

4.

Coalition to Stop Obstetric Fistula Program

0.1

5.

Control of Blindness Program

5.0

6.

Humanitarian support project, Yemen (Allocation)

0.5

Total
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ISFD Statement of Capital Contributions
As of 31 December 2017
S.No

COUNTRY

COMMITMENTS
(in US$ 000’s)

PAID AMOUNT
(in US$ 000’s)

REMARKS

Committed and Fully Paid
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1

Saudi Arabia

1,000,000

1,000,000

Fully Paid

2

Kuwait

300,000

300,000

Fully Paid

3

Algeria

50,000

50,000

Fully Paid

4

Qatar

50,000

50,000

Fully Paid

5

Malaysia

20,000

20,000

Fully Paid

6

Kazakhstan

11,000

11,000

Fully Paid

7

Egypt

10,000

10,000

Fully Paid

8

Pakistan

10,000

10,000

Fully Paid

9

Indonesia

10,000

10,000

Fully Paid

10

Morocco

5,000

5,000

Fully Paid

11

Oman

5,000

5,000

Fully Paid

12

Turkey

5,000

5,000

Fully Paid

13

Tunisia

5,000

5,000

Fully Paid

14

Gabon

4,000

4,000

Fully Paid

15

Jordan

3,000

3,000

Fully Paid

16

Yemen Republic

3,000

3,000

Fully Paid

17

Burkina Faso

2,200

2,238

Fully Paid

18

Bahrain

2,000

2,000

Fully Paid

19

Syria

2,000

2,000

Fully Paid

20

Cameroon

2,000

2,000

Fully Paid

21

Nigeria

2,000

2,000

Fully Paid

22

Guinea

2,000

2,000

Fully Paid

23

Lebanon

1,000

1,000

Fully Paid

24

Iraq

1,000

1,000

Fully Paid

25

Suriname

500

500

Fully Paid

26

Azerbaijan

300

424

Fully Paid

27

Uzbekistan

300

300

Fully Paid

28

Mozambique

200

200

Fully Paid
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S.No

COMMITMENTS
(in US$ 000’s)

COUNTRY

PAID AMOUNT
(in US$ 000’s)

REMARKS

Committed but Partially Paid
1

Iran

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Sudan
Bangladesh
Benin
Brunei
Togo
Gambia
Sierra Leone
Palestine
Turkmenistan

100,000

65,000

36,100
13,000
12,250
3,000
2,000
1,220
1,000
500
300

944
5,000
940
2,000
1,000
12
300
186
100

1st & 2nd
Installment
1st Installment
1st-5th Insts.
1st Instalment
1st Installment
1st Installment
1st Installment
1st Installment
1st Installment
1st Installment

-

No payment

-

No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment
No payment

-

No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
No commitment
Fully Paid

Committed but Not Paid
1

Senegal

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

Cote d’Ivoire
Mauritania
Mali
Chad
Niger
Maldives
Comoros
Guinea-Bissau
Uganda
Albania

10,000
5,000
5,000
4,000
2,000
2,000
1,000
650
200
100
10
No Commitment

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
1

Afghanistan
Djibouti
Guyana
Kyrgyz Republic
Libya
Somalia
Tajikistan
UAE
Islamic Development Bank

1,000,000

1,000,000

Grand Total

2,705,830

2,584,144

ISFD Resources in-kind:

(in US$ 000’s)

1
2
3
4

5,355
To be determined
To be determined
To be determined

Benin Waqf Land
Burkina Faso
Comoros
Cote d’Ivoire
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Building a better
Working world

Ernst & Young & Co. (Public Accountants)
13th Floor - King’s Road Tower
P. O. Box 1994,
King Abdulaziz Road (Malek Road),
Jeddah 21441, Saudi Arabia
Registration Number: 45

Tel: +966 12 221 8400
Fax: +966 12 221 8575
www.ey.com

Your Excellencies the Chairman and Members of the Board of Governors
Islamic Development Bank
Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of The Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development
(the “Fund”) of the Islamic Development Bank as of 31 December 2016 and the related statements of income,
changes in net assets and cash flows for the period from 14 October 2015 to 31 December 2016. These financial
statements and the Fund’s undertaking to operate in accordance with Shari’ah are the responsibility of the Fund’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by Accounting
and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI). Those Standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund as of 31
December 2016, and the results of its activities and its cash flows for the period from 14 October 2015 to 31
December 2016 in accordance with the Shari’a Rules and Principles as determined by the Shari’a Committee of
Islamic Development Bank and the accounting standards of AAOIFI.
Other matter
The financial statements of the Fund for the period ended 13 October 2015, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 9 March 2016.
For Ernst & Young

Ahmed I. Reda
Certified Public Accountant
License No. 356
11 March 2018
23 Jumada II 1439H
Jeddah
17/400/OO
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2017
(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
Notes

31 December 2017

31 December 2016

ASSETS
Treasury assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

28,646

46,898

Commodity placements

5

288,965

485,143

Wakala placement

6

500,309

-

Investments in syndicated Murabaha

7

4,015

212,678

Investments in Sukuk

8

1,851,945

1,830,384

156,332

129,936

9

16,162

18,576

Investments in equity capital

10

32,613

31,467

Investments in syndicated Ijarah

11

16,970

18,064

Other investments

12

125,280

130,611

5,355

5,355

3,026,592

2.909.112

Loans and other assets
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Investment assets

Land

13

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

14

5,060

4,972

Grants payable

16

88,520

30,657

2,933,012

2,873,483

NET ASSETS
REPRESENTED BY:
Fund resources

1

2,584,221

2,532,076

Fund resources in kind

13

5,355

5,355

Retained earnings

325,486

324,654

Fair value reserve

11,548

8,324

Equity preservation fund
Pension fund reserve

17

8,772

4,469

(2,370)

(1,395)

2,933,012

2,873,483

The notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
INCOME STATEMENT
For the period ended 31 December 2017

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

2017

For the Period from
14 October 2015 to
31 December 2016

19,796

23,980

309

-

3,302

13,291

64,981

59,500

3,166

3,036

-

-

549

526

3,664

2,704

95,767

103,037

(5)

23

(6,149)

(15,397)

89,613

87,663

Employee related expenses

(4,476)

(3,695)

General and administrative expenses

(1,395)

(931)

83,742

83,037

Notes

Income from:
Treasury assets
Commodity placements
Wakala placement
Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk

8

Loan and other assets
Loan service fees
Investment assets
Investments in equity capital
Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Other investments

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain
Provision for impairment
Total income

Net income for the period

10,11

The notes from 1 to 24 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the period ended 31 December 2017

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Fund
Resources
and
Resources
in Kind

Retained
earnings

Equity
Preservation
Fund

Fair value
reserve

Pension
Fund
reserve

Total

2,377,594

275,024

-

871

-

2,653,489

154,482

-

-

-

-

154,482

5,355

-

-

-

-

5,355

Net income for the period
Fair value reserve

-

83,037
-

-

7,453

-

83,037
7,453

Grant allocation (Note 15)

-

(28,938)

-

-

-

(28,938)

Transfer to equity
preservation fund (Note 16)
Pension fund reserve

-

(4,469)

4,469

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,395)

(1,395)

2,537,431

324,654

4,469

8,324

(1,395)

2,873,483

52,145

-

-

-

-

52,145

-

-

-

-

Balance at 13 October 2015
Contributions received
during the period
Contribution received
in kind (Note 12)

Balance at 31 December 2016
Contributions received
during the period
Contribution received
in kind (Note 13)

-

Net income for the year

-

83,742

-

-

-

83,742

Fair value reserve (Note 12)

-

-

-

3,224

-

3,224

Grant allocation (Note 16)

-

(78,607)

-

-

-

(78,607)

Transfer to equity preservation
fund (Note 17)

-

(4,303)

4,303

-

-

-

Pension fund reserve

-

-

-

-

(975)

(975)

2,589,576

325,486

8,772

11,548

(2,370)

2,933,012

Balance at 31 December 2017

-

The notes from 1 to 24 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period ended 31 December 2017
(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Cash flows from operations
Net income for the year
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Unrealized fair value losses on investments in Sukuk
Amortization of premium on Sukuk investment
carried at amortized cost
(gain) /Loss from Sale/redemption of Sukuk
Accrued coupon income on Sukuk
Accrued income on wakala placements
Provision for impairment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Grant payments
Net cash generated from operating activities

8
8
8
8
6

2017

For the Period from
14 October 2015 to
31 December 2016

83,742

83,037

2,331

7,261

(173)
7
(1,162)
(390)
6,149

2,296
1,758
(4,240)
15,397

(29,436)
2,414
(887)
(20,744)
41,918

(33,427)
7,530
2,848
(20,496)
61,964

196,177
(500,000)
208,662
(68,000)
31,443
14,007
1,094
(3,333)
14,040
(6,407)
(112,639)

52,761
152,454
(604,065)
168,374
46,242
1,512
1,431
(51,475)
(232,766)

52,145

154,482

(18,252)
46,898
28,646

(16,320)
63,218
46,898

-

5,355

Cash flows from investing activities
Commodity placements
Wakala placement
Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Addition to investments in Sukuk
Proceeds from redemption of investments in Sukuk
Proceeds from sale of investments in Sukuk
Investments in syndicated Ijarah
Investments in equity capital
Proceeds on sale of other investments
Purchase of other investments
Net cash used in investing activities

8
8
8
9
10
12

Cash flows from financing activity
Contributions received
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Non-cash supplementary information
Contributions received in kind

4

The notes from 1 to 24 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE ISLAMIC SOLIDARITY FUND FOR DEVELOPMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 31 December 2017

(All amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

1.

INCORPORATION, ACTIVITIES AND OTHER
The Islamic Solidarity Fund for Development (ISFD) (the “Fund”) was established by the decision of
the 31st Annual Meeting of the Islamic Development Bank’s (“IDB or Bank”) Board of Governors held
in Kuwait in Rabi al-Thani 1427H (May 2006) and was launched as a Waqf during the 32nd Annual
Meeting of the IDB Board of Governors held in Dakar, Senegal, in Rabi al-Thani 1427H (May 2007).
The Fund’s targeted capital (Fund’s resources) is USD10 billion. The Fund has been established within
the IDB Group on the basis of voluntary contributions by all Member Countries of the Bank, irrespective
of their development status.
The purpose of the Fund is to help to alleviate poverty, enhance development, eliminate illiteracy and
eradicate disease and epidemics in the Organization of Islamic Corporation (OIC) member states. ISFD
formally began its operations on 1 Muharram 1429H (10 January 2008).
The resources of ISFD available for utilization in its activities consist of:
I. income from the ISFD’s investments;
II. funds derived from operations or otherwise accruing to the Fund; and
III. other resources received by the Fund.
The Fund is required to carry out its activities in accordance with the principles of Shari’ah. The
fundamental principle underlying the Shari’ah approach to financial matters is that to earn a profit it is
always necessary to take a risk. In practice, Shari’ah means that all Islamic finance is asset based.
As a Fund of IDB, which is a multilateral development Bank, the Fund is not subject to any local or
foreign external regulatory authority.
The Board of Governors of IDB passed a resolution BG/4-436 approving the use of the Solar Hijri
calendar in determining the start and end dates of the financial year whilst maintaining the Lunar Hijri
as the official calendar of the Fund. Thus, all future financial years of the Fund will cover the period
equivalent from 1 January to 31 December.
The prior financial statements cover a period of 444 days from 14th October 2015 to 31st December
2016 (“period ended 31 Dec 2016”). As a result, the comparative figures covering the Lunar Hijri period
equivalent from 25th October 2014 – 13th October 2015 (“period ended 13 Oct 2015”) (equal to 353
days) are not comparable.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”)
issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”) and the
Shari’ah rules and principles as determined by the Shari’ah Committee of the Bank. In accordance with
the requirements of AAOIFI, for matters for which no AAOIFI standard exists, the Fund seeks guidance
from the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
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Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following
items:
-

Other investments are measured at fair value through net assets; and
A portfolio of investments in Sukuk are measured at fair value through income statement designated
as such at time of initial recognition.

Functional and presentation currency
ISFD conducts most of its operations and makes disbursements in United States Dollar (USD).
Therefore, the functional and presentation currency of ISFD is USD. Except as otherwise indicated,
financial information presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest thousands.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Fund
assumes related contractual rights or obligations.
Financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another entity, a contractual right to
receive cash or another financial asset from another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity.
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.
Below table summarises Fund’s major financial assets and liabilities and their measurement and
recognition principles. Detailed accounting policies are provided in the relevant sections below.
Item

Recognition principles

Cash equivalents

Cost

Commodity placements

Amortised cost less impairment

Syndicated Murabaha

Amortised cost less impairment

Investments in Sukuk certificates

Fair value through income statement; and
Amortised cost less impairment

Investment in syndicated Ijarah

Disbursement less impairment

Loans

cost less impairment

Investments in equity capital

Fair value through net assets; or cost less impairment for
unquoted investments (if fair value cannot be determined
reliably)

Other investments

Fair value through net assets

b) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legal right to set off the recognised
amounts and the Fund intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
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liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under
FAS issued by AAOIFI, or for gains and losses arising from a group of smaller transactions.
c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, and placements with banks having a maturity of
three months or less at the date of placement.
d) Commodity placements
Commodity placements are made through banks and are utilized in the purchase and sale of commodities
at fixed profit. The buying and selling of commodities is limited by the terms of agreement between the
Fund and the other Islamic and conventional financial institutions. Commodity placements are initially
recorded at cost including acquisition charges associated with the placements and subsequently
measured at amortized cost less any provision for impairment.
e) Wakala Placement
Wakala is an agreement whereby one party (the “Muwakkil” / “Principal”) appoints an investment agent
(the “Wakeel” / “Agent”) to invest the Muwakkil’s funds (the “Wakala Capital”) on the basis of an agency
contract (the “Wakala”) in return for a specified fee. The agency fee can be a lump sum or a fixed
percentage of the Wakala Capital and is payable regardless the said Wakala generates profit or loss.
However, the Wakeel bears the loss in cases of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms of
the Investment Wakala..
f) Investments in syndicated Murabaha
The Fund participates in syndicated Murabaha transactions originated by IDB’s affiliate International
Islamic Trade Finance Cooperation (ITFC).
The amounts receivable from Investments in syndicated Murabaha are stated at the selling price less
unearned income to the reporting date, less repayments received and any provision for impairment.
g) Investments in Sukuk
Investments in Sukuk are debt-type instruments classified as either measured at amortised cost or at
fair value through income statement.
Sukuk is measured at amortised cost only if it is managed on a contractual yield basis or it is not held
for trading and has not been designated at fair value through the income statement.
Sukuk classified and measured at fair value through income statement are initially recognized at fair
value at the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period with the resulting gain or loss recognized in the income statement.
Transaction costs are expensed immediately on the date the contract is entered into.
h) Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Investment in syndicated Ijarah is measured at amounts disbursed less provision for any impairment.
i) Loans
Loan is recognized when cash is disbursed to the borrowers. Amounts receivable from loans represent
amounts disbursed in respect of projects plus the loan service fees due, less repayments received and
less provision for impairment.
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j) Investments in equity capital and other investments
Investments in equity capital and other investment are intended to be held for a long-term period, and
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in prices. Initially and subsequently such
investments are measured at fair value, and any unrealized gains arising from the change in their fair
value are recognized directly in the fair value reserve in the statement of changes in net assets until the
investment is derecognized or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recorded in the statement of changes in net assets is recognized in the income statement.
Investments in equity capital or other investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
carried at cost less provision for any impairment in the value of such investments.
k) Land
Land is measured at cost less impairment.
l) Revenue recognition
Commodity placements through banks
Income from placements through banks is recognized on a time apportionment basis over the period
from the actual disbursement of funds to the date of maturity.
Wakala placement
Wakala fee is accrued on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the
principal amounts outstanding
Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Income from investments in syndicated Murabaha is accrued on a time apportionment basis over the
period from the date of the actual disbursement of funds to their scheduled repayment dates.
Investments in Sukuk
Income from investments in Sukuk is accrued on an effective profit rate method and is recognised
in the income statement and where the Sukuk is classified and measured at fair value, the fair value
gains and losses (realized and unrealized) resulting from the re-measurement of the fair values at the
reporting date are also recognised in the income statement.
Dividend income from investments in equity capital and other investment
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the payments is established.
Loan service fees
ISFD charges loan service fee only to cover its administrative costs related to the signature of an
agreement and disbursements made to the member countries. Thus, the loan service fee is calculated
during the financial periods starting from the signature date through to the date of the last disbursement.
The loan service fee is allocated and recognised in the income statement over the financial periods
as follows:
-

4% of the cumulative service fee is allocated/recognised during the financial periods between the
signature date and the 1st disbursement date;

-

40% of the cumulative service fee is allocated/recognised during the financial periods between the
1st disbursement date and the last disbursement date; and

-

56% of the service fee is allocated/recognised during 5 years from the last disbursement date.

Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Income from investments in syndicated Ijarah is recognised on the effective yield method (which
represents ijarah rental net of depreciation against ijarah assets).
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m) Grant allocation
The Fund’s Board of Directors have the authority to allocate grants from ISFD’s normalized net income
(net income adjusted for unrealized gains/losses, to be charged to statement of changes in assets).
These grant allocations are recorded as liabilities until disbursed to the beneficiaries.
n) Impairment of financial assets
Amortized cost or cost less impairment
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of impairment is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its expected recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in income statement.
Fair value through net assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is
objective evidence that an investment may be impaired. In case of investments carried at fair value
through net assets, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the investment below the cost
is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any evidence exists of significant or
prolonged impairment for the investment carried at fair value through net assets, the cumulative loss,
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on the investment in equity previously recognised in the net assets, is removed from net assets and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity investments previously recognised in
the income statement are not subsequently reversed through the income statement.
o) Foreign currency transactions and translations
Foreign currency transactions that require settlement in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency of the Fund (USD) at the exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into the functional currency at the exchange
rate at the date that the fair value is determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences
resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and arising on translation at period end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement.
p) Zakat and tax
The Fund is considered a Bait-ul-Mal (public money), hence is not subject to Zakat or any Taxes.
Critical accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with FAS issued by AAOIFI requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and incomes and expenses. It also requires Management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies. Such estimates, assumptions and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including obtaining
professional advices and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The most significant judgments and estimates are summarised below:
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Significant Judgments
Functional and presentation currency: Since most of the operations are conducted in USD and
disbursements are made in USD, ISFD’s functional and presentation currency is USD.
Subsequent events: The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the
reporting date and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue, provided they give
evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date.
Going concern: The Fund’s management has made an assessment of the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern and is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial
statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.
Significant estimates
Provision for impairment of financial assets: The Fund exercises judgment in the estimation of
provision for impairment of financial assets. The methodology for the estimation of the provision is set
out in the Significant Accounting Policies section “Impairment of financial assets”.
Fair value of financial Instruments: The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in
active markets is measured by using valuation techniques. Which require a certain degree of judgement
and estimation.
Post-employee benefits plan: The Fund uses the projected unit credit method to determine the net
present value of its defined benefit plans and the related service costs. In this regard, the fund uses
certain assumptions of discount rates, expected return on plan assets and rate of salary increases,
which may differ from actual experiences. These estimates are updated on annual basis.

4.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Note
Cash at bank
Commodity placements

5

2017

2016

-

-

28,646

46,898

28,646

46,898

Commodity placements include those placements having a maturity of three months or less at the date
of placement.
Bank accounts are in the name of IDB and are anaged by IDB for the beneficial interest of the Fund.

5.

COMMODITY PLACEMENTS
Note
Commodity placements through banks
Accrued income
Less: Commodity placements with maturity of
three months or less at the date of placements

4

2017

2016

313,246

509,898

4,365

22,143

(28,646)
288,965
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6.

WAKALA PLACEMENT
Note
Commodity placements through banks
Accrued income

2017

2016

500,000

-

309

-

500,309

-

ISFD entered into two Wakala agreements of US$ 200M and 300M with IDB OCR at 21 December 2017
having a rate of 2.2249 maturing in 2023.

7.

INVESTMENTS IN SYNDICATED MURABAHA

Gross amounts receivable
Less: unearned income

2017

2016

4,030

216,299

(15)

(3,621)

4,015

212,678

Investments in syndicated Murabaha for and on behalf of the Fund are made by The International
Islamic Trade Finance Corporation (“ITFC”), an affiliated entity, for which ITFC charges share of profit.
The share of profit for the period ended 31 December 2017 was USD 0.51 million (31 December 2016:
USD 2.03 million) which has been netted off from the income from investments in syndicated Murabaha.

8.

INVESTMENTS IN SUKUK
Counterparty rating
31 December 2017

AAA

AA+ to
AA-

A+ to A-

BBB to
BBB-

Un- rated

Total

Sukuk classified as fair value though
income statement:
-

Governments

-

56,326

-

250,954

-

307,280

-

Financial institutions

-

-

20,144

20,042

-

40,186

-

Other entities

-

-

-

10,019

46,458

56,477

-

56,328

20,144

281,015

46,458

403,943

-

50,290

- 1,011,031

-

1,061,321

89,136

-

187,104

20,849

-

297,089

-

-

64,295

25,297

-

89,592

89,136

50,290

251,399 1,057,177

-

1,448,002

89,136

106,616

271,543 1,338,192

46,458

1,851,945

Sukuk classified at amortised cost:
-

Governments

-

Financial institutions

-

Other entities

Total
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Counterparty rating
31 October 2016

AAA

AA+ to AA-

BBB to
BBB-

A+ to A-

Total

Un- rated

Sukuk classified as fair value though
income statement:
- Governments

-

57,673

-

252,000

-

309,673

-

Financial institutions

-

-

20,361

35,228

-

55,589

-

Other entities

-

-

10,037

23,472

49,564

83,073

-

57,673

30,398

310,700

49,564

448,335

-

50,220

23,341

925,872

-

999,433

90,909

-

135,797

115,872

-

342,578

-

-

15,192

25,296

-

40,488

90,909

50,220

174,330 1,067,040

-

1,382,499

90,909

107,893

204,728 1,377,740

49,564

1,830,834

Sukuk classified at amortised cost:
-

Governments

-

Financial institutions

-

Other entities

Total

The movement of the investments in Sukuk is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the period

2017

2016

1,830,384

1,448,010

Movements during the period:
68,000

604,065

Redemption of Sukuk

(31,443)

(168,374)

Sale of Sukuk

(14,000)

(48,000)

173

(2,296)

(2,331)

(7,261)

1,162

4,240

1,851,945

1,830,384

2017

2016

67,132

70,815

173

(2,296)

7

(1,758)

Additions

Amortisation of premium on Sukuk carried at amortized cost
Unrealized fair value losses
Accrued coupon income on Sukuk carried at amortized cost

Balance at end of the period

Income from investments in Sukuk is comprised of the following:

Coupon income
Amortization of premium on Sukuk carried at amortised
cost
(Losses)/gains from sale of Sukuk
Unrealised fair value losses

9.

(7,261)

64,981

59,500

2017

2016

11,807

9,413

4,355

9,163

16,162

18,576

ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS
Note
Due from related parties
Accrued income

74

(2,331)
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10. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY CAPITAL
2017

2016

31,467

45,478

3,333

-

-

-

Provision for impairment

(2,187)

(14,011)

Balance at end of the period

32,613

31,467

Balance at beginning of the period
Additions
Net unrealised fair value losses

The Fund’s investment in equity capital represents investments in unlisted equity securities.

11. INVESTMENT IN SYNDICATED IJARAH
2017

2016

Balance at beginning of the period

18,064

19,576

Repayments

(1,094)

(1,512)

Balance at end of the period

16,970

18,064

2017

2016

130,611

74,500

Additions

6,407

51,475

Disposals

(14,040)

(1,431)

Net unrealised fair value gains

3,224

7,453

Provision for impairment

(922)

(1,386)

125,280

130,611

12. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Balance at beginning of the period

Balance at end of the period

13. LAND
The Board of Governors of ISFD in the 5th annual meeting vide resolution no ISFD/BG/3-433 called
on the Member Countries to take all measures to support the efforts of ISFD in resource mobilization
such as allocating a suitable Waqf in favour of ISFD, which ISFD can develop to generate revenues that
can enhance its resources. The value of the allocated Waqf shall be considered the contribution, or as
the case may be, part of the contribution, of the donating Member Country to the capital of ISFD. At
least 50% of the income generated from the investments of the Waqf will be used by ISFD to finance
projects in the concerned Member Country, and the remaining amount will be used to finance other
activities of ISFD.
Accordingly, the Government of the Republic of Benin (a member country) vide Article 3 of the Decree
No. 2014-137 dated 20th February 2014 has allocated a piece of land to ISFD for 70 years, nonrenewable, that can be developed to generate revenues. The value of the land allocated has been
independently assessed by a consultant to be USD 5.35 million. The assessed value of the Land has
been recorded as the cost (i.e. the fair value at the date of the contribution) in the books of ISFD, with
corresponding increase in the funds resources. The allocated piece of Land is registered in the name
of Islamic Development Bank for the benefit of ISFD.
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14. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Note
Due to related parties
Pension Liability

15
14.1

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

2017

2016

405

2,941

2,720

1,551

1,935

480

5,060

4,972

a. During the period ended 31 December 2016 a decision was taken by Pension Committee of IsDB Group
to share (based on the number of employees of each entity), the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) and
Pension Assets resulting in the Net Actuarial Deficit to all the entities in the Group. The deficit was
agreed to be shared with all the entities in the Group for the period ending 31 December 2016.

15. RELATED PARTIES
The Fund is managed by IDB and its transactions are done through IDB and its affiliated entities. Principal
arrangements related to commodity placements, investments in syndicated Murabaha, investments in
Sukuk, loans, investments in equity capital, investment in syndicated Ijarah and other investments are
between the IDB and/or its related entities and counter parties. ISFD participates in such arrangements
with IDB and its related entities. Development activity transactions, which are entered into with Member
Countries, represents all the financing activities (i.e. investments in syndicated Murabaha, Loans and
investments in syndicated Ijarah) of the Fund and related income, which has been disclosed in the
income statement.
During the period ended 31 December 2017, the Fund, purchased sukuk amounting to USD 53 million
from Islamic Development Bank- Ordinary Capital Resources.
The balances arising from such transactions are as follows:
(i) Due from related parties

IDB - Special Assistance Fund
Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of Investment and
Export Credit (“ICIEC”)
IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources

2017

2016

8,625

8,625

22

-

3,160

788

11,807

9,413

2017

2016

-

2,836

268

-

25

-

7

-

105

105

405

2,941

(ii) Due to related parties

IDB - Ordinary Capital Resources
International Islamic Trade Finance Corporation (“ITFC”)
IDB –Pension Fund
Islamic Corporation for the Development of the Private
Sector (“ICD”)
Islamic Corporation for the Insurance of Investment and
Export Credit (“ICIEC”)
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(iii) Sukuk Investments- where IDB-OCR is the counter party

Sukuk investments

2017

2016

-

90,198

16. GRANT ALLOCATION
The Board of Directors of ISFD vide resolution no ISFD/BOD/21/12/436/(52)/31 approved the following.
1. A grant of USD 100 million for “Lives and Livelihood Fund” (LLF) in its 51st meeting held in Maputo,
Mozambique, in June 2015. The approved amount will be disbursed in five annual instalments of
USD 20 million each over five years, starting 1437H (2016), and
2. 10% of normalized net annual income (net income less unrealized marked to market Gains/Losses)
as grants.
The Board of Directors of ISFD approved the following grants from ISFD’s normalized net income (net
income adjusted for unrealized gains/losses), charged to the statement of net assets:
Grant Allocation

2017

2016

(8,607)

(8,938)

Lives and Livelihood Funds

(20,000)

(20,000)

Science, Technology & Innovation Fund (STI)

(50,000)

-

Total Grant allocation

(78,607)

(28,938)

Grant Allocation - 10%

The amount payable as at 31 December 2017 amounted to USD 88.5 million (31 December 2016: USD
30.6 million)

17. EQUITY PRESERVATION FUND
The Board of Directors of ISFD by resolution number BOD/16/03/437/(54)Special/5 approved:
1. The establishment of a Special Equity Preservation Fund “the Reserve” and that annual allocation
be made to the Reserve in the amount of 5% of the normalized net annual income (net income less
unrealized fair value gains/losses) of ISFD in the years 1437H-1441H (2016-2020) and 10% in the
following years, and
2. 10% of the net income earned from contribution received from Member Countries and Fael Khair
in the form of Waqf be added back to the principal amount of such Waqf’s in order to preserve the
Waqf’s Capital.
Waqf contribution received from Member Countries and Fael Khair are in the form of Land, Building or
Other Assets, etc.
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18. MATURITY PROFILE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets and liabilities maturity periods
Less
than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
Years

Over 5
Years

No
Fixed
Maturity

Total

28,646

-

-

-

-

28,646

175,634

113,331

-

-

-

288,965

-

-

-

500,309

-

500,309

4,015

-

-

-

-

4,015

322,282

217,815

694,250

617,598

-

1,851,945

-

7,516

10 591

138,225

-

156,332

16,162

-

-

-

-

16,162

-

-

-

-

32,613

32,613

478

956

4,780

10,756

-

16,970

Other Investments

-

-

-

-

125,280

125,280

Land

-

-

-

-

5,355

5,355

547,217

339,618

709,621

1,266,888

163,248

3,026,592

2,340

-

-

-

50,000

38,520

-

-

88,520

544,877

289,618

671,101

1,264,168

163,248

2,933,012

Cash and cash equivalents

46,898

-

-

-

-

46,898

Commodity placements

22,143

80,000

383,000

-

-

485,143

Investments in syndicated Ijarah

52,370

160,308

-

-

-

212,678

Investments in Sukuk

15,084

25,236 1,069,401

720,663

- 1,830,384

31 December 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Commodity placements
Wakalah placement
Investments in syndicated Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk
Loans
Accrued income and other assets
Investments in equity capital
Investments in syndicated Ijarah

Total assets
Liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Grants payable
Net assets

2720 -

5,060

31 December 2016
Assets

Loans

-

1,849

8,589

119,498

-

129,936

18,576

-

-

-

-

18,576

-

-

-

-

31,467

31,467

478

956

4,780

11,850

-

18,064

Other investments

-

-

-

-

130,611

130,611

Land

-

-

-

-

5,355

5,355

268,349 1,465,770

852,011

Accrued income and other assets
Investment in equity capital
Investment in syndicated Ijarah

Total assets

155,549

167,433 2,909,112

Liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Grants payable
Net assets

78

3,421

-

-

1,551

-

4,972

-

-

30,657

-

-

30,657

268,349 1,435,113

850,460

152,128

167,433 2,873,483
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19. CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS
The geographical locations of assets at period end reflect the continents in which the beneficiaries of
the assets are located.

Asia

Africa

Europe

Nonmember
countries

28,646

-

-

-

28,646

Commodity placements

233,861

-

-

55,104

288,965

Wakalah placement
Investments in syndicated
Murabaha

500,309

-

-

-

500,309

-

4,015

-

-

4,015

1,801,654

-

-

50,291

1,851,945

Loan

69,245

87,087

-

-

156,332

Accrued income and other
assets

16,162

-

-

-

16,162

Investments in equity capital

32,613

-

-

-

32,613

Member countries
31 December 2017
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in Sukuk

Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Other Investments
Land
Total assets
31 December 2016
Cash and cash equivalents
Commodity placements
Investments in syndicated
Murabaha
Investments in Sukuk
Loan
Accrued income and other
assets
Investment in equity capital
Investment in syndicated Ijarah
Other investments
Land
Total assets

20.

Total

16,970

-

-

-

16,970

125,280

-

-

-

125,280

-

5,355

-

-

5,355

2,824,740

96,457

-

105,395

3,029,592

46,898
485,143

-

-

-

46,898
485,143

192,853

19,825

-

-

212,678

1,830,384
61,483

68,453

-

-

1,830,384
129,936

18,576

-

-

-

18,576

31,467
18,064
130,611
-

5,355

-

-

31,467
18,064
130,611
5,355

2,815,479

93,633

-

-

2,909,112

NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The net assets in foreign currencies at end of 31 December 2016 were as follows:
2017

2016

Euro

(2,787)

2,142

Islamic Dinar (ID)

11,992

11,864

Saudi Riyal

33,395

42,182

Other currencies

(3,053)

11,365
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21. UNDISBURSED COMMITMENTS

Loan

2017

2016

352,120

346,310

22. SHARI’AH COMMITTEE
The Fund’s business activities are subject to the supervision of the IDB’s Shari’ah Committee consisting
of members appointed by the Bank’s General Assembly. Shari’ah Committee for the Bank, its affiliates
and trust funds was established pursuant to the Board Resolution. Members of the Shari’ah Committee
of the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds are appointed for a period of 3 years renewable.
The Committee has the following functions:
-

to consider all products introduced by the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds for use for the first time
and rule on their conformity with the principles of the Shari’ah, and lay down basic principles for
drafting of related contracts and other documents;

-

to give its opinion on the Shari’ah alternatives to conventional products which the Bank, its affiliates
and trust funds intend to use, and to lay down basic principles for drafting of related contracts
and other documents and contribute to their development with a view to enhancing the Bank’s, its
affiliates’ and trust funds’ experience in this regard;

-

to respond to the Shari’ah related questions, enquiries and explications referred to it by the Board
of Executive Directors or the management of the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds;

-

to contribute to the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds programme for enhancing the awareness of its
staff members of Islamic banking and deepen their understanding of the fundamentals, principles,
rules and values relative to Islamic financial transactions; and

-

to submit to the Board of Executive Directors of the Bank, its affiliates and trust funds a comprehensive
report showing the measure of the Bank’s, its affiliates’ and trust funds’ commitment to principles
of Shari’ah in the light of the opinions and directions given and the transactions reviewed.

23. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Fund is monitored by the IDB’s Group Risk Management Department (“GRMD”). The Bank has a
Group Risk Management Department (“GRMD”) that is independent from all business departments as
well as other entities of the Bank. The GRMD is responsible for identification, assessment, mitigating
and reporting of all risks inherent in the Fund’s activities to maintain its low risk profile. The Bank has
also established a Group Risk Management Committee, which ensures that, based on the risk appetite
there, are appropriate controls on all major risks arising from financing and investment operations
through reviewing the risk management framework, policies, procedures, guidelines and risk reports.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge its obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Fund’s credit risk arises mainly from its financial
assets (other than equity securities).
For all classes of financial assets held by the Fund, the maximum credit risk exposure to the Fund is
their carrying value as disclosed in the relevant notes. The assets which subject the Fund to credit
risk principally consist of cash and cash equivalent, commodity placements, investments in Sukuk,
investments in syndicated Murabaha and Loans which are mainly covered by sovereign guarantees
and commercial bank guarantees acceptable to the Fund, in accordance with specific eligibility criteria
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and credit risk assessments. IDB and its related entities and managed funds benefit from preferred
creditor status on sovereign financing, which gives them priority over other creditors in the event of
default thus constituting a strong protection against credit losses.
The Bank has developed and put in place comprehensive credit policies and guidelines as a part of
overall credit risk management framework to provide clear guidance on various types of financing.
These policies are clearly communicated within the Bank, as well as other entities of the Bank, with a view
to maintain the overall credit risk appetite and profile within the parameters set by the management of
the Bank. The credit policy formulation, credit limit setting, monitoring of credit exceptions / exposures
and review / monitoring functions are performed independently by the GRMD, which endeavors to
ensure that business lines comply with risk parameters and prudential limits established by the Board
of Executive Directors and the management of the Bank.
An important element of the credit risk management framework is exposure limits structure for each
obligor and group of connected obligors. Moreover, portfolio concentration limits relating to single
country and single obligor are also in place with the view to maintain appropriate diversification. The
assessment of any exposure is based on the use of comprehensive internal rating systems for various
potential counterparties eligible to enter into business relationships with IDB and its managed funds.
While extending financing to its member countries, the Bank safeguards its and its managed funds’
interests by obtaining adequate guarantees and ensures that the concerned beneficiaries as well as the
guarantors are able to meet their obligations to IDB and its managed funds. In addition to the above risk
mitigation tools, the Bank has in place a comprehensive approach for risk assessment and assignment
of exposure limits for each type of obligors in line with the best banking practices.
As at 31 December 2017, and 31 December 2016, there were no over due installments relating to
Investment in syndicated Murabaha and loans.
b) Country risk
Country risk refers to the risks associated with the economic, social and political environments of the
beneficiary’s home country. Guidelines are in place for assessing and monitoring country risk profiles
and exposure to safeguard the Bank, as well as the other entities of the Bank, against undue risk. The
country risk profiles and exposure limits are periodically reviewed taking into consideration the macroeconomic, financial and other developments in the member countries, as well as the status of their
business relationship with IDB and its managed funds, perception of the rating agencies and institutions
of repute, risk perception of market participants and experience of other multilateral development
banks (MDB’s). Countries are classified under 7 risk categories; i.e., “A” to “G”, whereby “A” represents
the highest creditworthy category (lowest risk) and “G” represents the lowest creditworthy category
(highest risk).
c) Market risks
The Fund is exposed to following market risks:
i) Currency risk
Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of
the financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, in case the Fund does not hedge its
currency exposure by means of hedging instruments. Exposure to exchange risk is limited. Most of the
Fund’s financing operations are USD-denominated, the same currency in which the Fund’s resources
– i.e. equity are denominated. The Fund does not trade in currencies. Therefore, it is not exposed to
currency trading risk. The Fund has a conservative policy whereby the currency composition of the
portfolio is monitored and adjusted regularly.
ii) Price risk
The Fund is not exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments as the investments are
held for strategic purpose rather than trading purposes. In view of the composition of investment,
equity price risk is not significant.
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iii) Mark-up risk
Mark-up risk arises from the possibility that changes in mark-up will affect the value of the financial
instruments. The Fund may be exposed to mark-up risk on its investments in Sukuk. However, the
Fund mitigates this risk by investing in fixed mark-up Sukuk.
d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. To mitigate
this risk, the Fund adopts a conservative approach by maintaining high liquidity levels invested in cash
and cash equivalents, investments in syndicated Murabaha and commodity placements with shortterm maturity of three to twelve months.
e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different
levels have been defined as follows:
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

357,485

46,458

-

403,943

31 December 2017
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through income
statement:
- Investments in Sukuk
Financial assets at fair value through net assets:
- Other Investments

-

112,780

-

112,780

357,485

159,238

-

516,723

398,771

49,564

-

448,335

-

-

-

-

-

93,619

-

93,619

398,771

143,183

-

541,954

31 December 2016
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through income
statement:
- Investments in Sukuk
- Murabaha based cross currency and profit rate
swap
Financial assets at fair value through net assets:
- Other Investments

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management has determined the chief operating decision maker to be the Board of Executive Directors
as this body is responsible for overall decisions about resource allocation to development initiatives
within its member countries. In order to ensure the availability of sufficient resources to enable it to
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meet its developmental objectives, the Fund actively engages in treasury and liquidity management.
Development initiatives are undertaken through a number of Islamic finance products as disclosed
on the face of the Statement of Financial Position which are financed centrally through the Fund’s
resources. Management has not identified separate operating segments within the definition of FAS 22
“Segment Reporting” since the Board of Executive Directors monitors the performance and financial
position of the Fund as a whole, without distinguishing between the developmental activities and the
ancillary supporting liquidity management activities or geographical distribution of its development
programs. Further, the internal reports furnished to the Board of Executive Directors do not present
discrete financial information with respect to the Fund’s performance to the extent envisaged in FAS 22.

25. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The following new financial accounting standards have been issued except for FAS 29 “sukuk issuances”
which is in the stage of exposure draft and is expected to be issued in near future. The Fund intends
to adopt these financial reporting standards when they become effective and is currently assessing the
impact of these new financial accounting standards on its financial statements and systems.
(i) Financial Accounting Standard – 30 “Impairment and credit losses”
FAS 30 will be replacing FAS 11 “Provisions and Reserves” and has been developed on the new
approach towards identification and recognition of impairment and credit losses, in particular the
forward looking expected losses approach, as introduced under International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial Instruments”. FAS 30 shall also apply to off-balance sheet exposures.
This standard shall be effective from the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
adoption is permitted.
(ii) Financial Accounting Standard – 28 “Murabaha and other deferred payment sales”
FAS 28 intends to define the accounting and reporting principles and requirements for Murabaha and
deferred payment sales transactions and different elements of such transaction. Additionally, the earlier
standards did not discuss the issue of accounting for the purchaser in Murabaha and deferred payment
sales transactions for which there was a dire need to prescribe accounting principles. This standard
supersedes the earlier FAS 2 “Murabaha and Murabaha to the Purchase Orderer” and FAS 20 “Deferred
Payment Sales”.
This standard shall be effective on the financial statements of the Fund beginning on or after 1 January
2019. Early adoption of the standard is permitted.
(iii) Financial Accounting Standard – 29 “Sukuk Issuances”
The standard aims to provide guidance for accounting, classification and presentation for Sukuk
issuances primarily based on the Sukuk structure, which may include on balance sheet, as well as,
off balance sheet accounting. These classifications depend on the control of such assets comprising
of power to control and nature of control i.e. for risks and rewards as well as varying benefits to the
institution or the fiduciary responsibility on behalf of the Sukuk-holders. This standard shall be applied
for accounting and financial reporting for Sukuk issuance in the books of the issuer.
This standard shall be applicable on the financial statements of the Fund for the periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019.

26. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Executive Directors on 11 March 2018 (corresponding to 23 Jumada II 1439H).
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